
2327 

Ruth M. St. Clair-for Defendants on Challenge­
Rebuttal-Direct 

The Court: I do not know quite what that means. 
There were five of those bundles f 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 304, 305, 
306, 307, and 308 for identification.) 

By Mr. lsserman: 

Q. Now, 1\Irs. St. Clair, in addition to the 8,000 and 
some odd represented by the exhibit which has just been 
marked into evidence you made some addtional names 
available, did you not, to the clerk of this court f A.. Yes. 

Q. The jury clerk? A. Yes. 

_ ( 4476) The Court: What do you mean by 
"making them available"~ I don't quite understand. 

The Witness: Obtain sources from which they 
were taken. Through the Association we obtained 
sources. 

The Court: You mean you found there were 
sources from which names could be taken and you 
communicated with somebody and let them know 
what those sources were that they could go to for 
that if they chose? 

The Witness: Yes, sir. 

Q. What were those sources~ A. In some instances 
they were alumni directories and business directories. 

Q. Business directories and things of that kind 7 A. 
Yes. 

Q. And the total number of names in all those various 
sources was about 9,0001 A. 9,057, to be exact. 

Q. When you give us the figure 9,057, that was not the 
total names in any particular directory or in all these di­
rectories 1 A. No, in various directories. 

The Court : Is that the total of all of those 
directories together 1 

The Witness: Yes. 
Mr. Isserman : If your Honor please, I don't 

believe that is her answer. 
The Court: That is what she said. 
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( 4477) Mr. Isserman: I would like to examine 
on that. 

The Court: You may do so. 

Q. Isn't it a fact those 9,057 names were selected from 
certain directories 1 

Mr. Gordon: I object to cross-examination of 
his own witness. 

Mr. Isserman: It is not cross examination. 
The Court: I will allow it. 
Do you understand the question 1 
The Witness: Yes. 
The Court: What you appeared to say was the 

total of all the names in those various sources was 
9,057 and now J\ir. Isserman is asking whether it 
was not rather certain names that you picked out of 
those directories and other sources. Was it the lat­
ter or was it the totaH 

You ask the question in your own way. 
Mr. Isserman: Do you understand the question T 
The Witness: No. 
Mr. Isserman: I will withdraw it. 

Q. You say there were 9,057 names made available to 
the clerk from these various sources. A. Yes, sir. 
· Q. Did making them available include copying names 

off on cards and giving them to the jury clerk1 A. No. 
(4478) Q. Just what did you do about making tho.se 

sources available 1 A. Procured the different directories, 
alumni directories, and business directories, and turned 
them over to the clerk. 

Q. And did you turn them over completely to the clerk? 
A. No, to his assistant. 

Q. Who was his assistant, Mr. McKenzie 1 A. No. 
Q. Who was it 1 Mr. Tanner? A. Yes. 

· Q. And will you tell us what the process was 1 Did you 
send for Mr. Tanner and say you had some lists for him T 
A. Yes. I did not have the lists. I said I had the sources 
and Mr. Tanner typed the sources, typed the names. As I 
understand it he did it at home. 
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Q. Didn't he sometimes type those sources in your 
office? A. He checked them in my office sometimes. 

Q. He came in and checked them with the directories in 
your office? A. Yes. 

Q. Now when you say 9,057, how did you arrive at your 
figures? Have you some record? A. I counted them. 

Q. When did you count them~ Just before you came 
here to testify? A. No. I counted them over the period of 
time. Each time he typed some lists I counted them. 

Q. And those lists were typed from those different 
sources, is that right? A. That is correct. 

Q. Did you keep any record of your count from time to 
( 4479) tin1e showing how many names were taken out of 
each source 1 A. I just counted the lists, the names on the 
lists. 

Q. One of those lists was Poor's Directory of Directors, 
wasn't it? A. Yes. 

Q. And you counted all the names in Poor's Directory 
of Directors~ 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, she has not said that. 
The Court: It is proper cross examination-it 

really is not cross examination but I think it is 
proper. 

Mr. Gordon: That was my objection. It seemed 
to me to be cross examination. 

The Court : I don't think there is anything here 
that would indicate Mr. Isserman is attempting to 
impeach the witness but rather to elicit the facts. 

Mr. Isserman: That is correct. That is pre­
cisely what I am doing. 

Mr. Gordon: My suggestion was that he ask her 
and let her testify, because every time he says "You 
do this or that or the other,'' and he gets it wrong 
and it just keeps going on. 

Mr. Isserman: I think the witness understands 
the question. 

The Court : Ask a new question then. 

Q. Your testimony about the 9,057 names, by that do 
( ~480) you mean that the sources totaled up, that is, the 
duectories of the alumni and other directories that were 
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used, if you added up all the names in those directories 
you would have 9,057 ~ A. I did not say that, sir. 

Q. Tell us what you mean. A. I said I counted the 
names after they were taken from the directory; that is 
the total of those names. 

Q. Oh, I .see. And did you count them on certain lists T 
A. I counted all the names on the lists after he finished 
typing. 

Q. And they were typed up on lists~ A. Naturally. 
Q. And not on cards 1 A. On lists, on paper. 
Q. Did you keep a carbon copy of those lists tooT A. 

Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you have those with you? A. Yes, sir. They are 

right there. 

The Court: They are all in the papers that have 
been handed to the clerk~ 

The Witness: Yes, your Honor. 

Q. So the papers that have been handed to the clerk 
contain altogether some 18,000 names, is that right f A. 
That is correct. 

Q. Did you, in your office, keep a list of the sources that 
were used from which the names were taken, such as 
( 4481) the college alumni directories and others? A. We 
have some. We borrowed some. 

Q. Have you any record of what those sources were in 
your files 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Have you that record with you 1 A. It is indicated 
on the list. 

Q. Does the list itself indicate the source from which 
it came1 A. Yes. 

Q. Could you find some one ,such list which comes from 
one of those directories~ Could you do that easily1 A. 
Yes. 

Q. Or would it take some time? A. Yes. 
Q. And before you do that perhaps you can tell me 

whether the lists from those sources are kept separately 
from the other names you submitted? A. No. I have them 
all together chronologically. 
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Mr. Gordon: May I suggest that the exhibit num-
ber of the bundle be identified before she testifies T 

The Court: Yes, .she will do that. 
Did you mark them aliT 
The Clerk : Yes, your Honor. 
The Witness: They are all mixed up now. 
The Court: When you select a paper please in­

dicate for the record the exhibit number of the 
bundle from which you take the paper. 

( 4482) The Witness : 307? Is that the exhibit 
number? 

Q. Yes, Exhibit 307. A. Well, there are several sources. 
They are covered already with this paper. This is a Dart­
mouth (indicating). 

Q. The source is indicated and how can you tell it is 
Dartmouth 7 A. I have it written. 

Q. Will you show me where it is written T A. I think it 
is written ''Dartmouth Club.'' 

Q. And there is a pencil notation in the left margin of 
the first page of the exhibit; that is correct, isn't it f A. 
Yes. 

The Court: It says "Dartmouth Club." 

Q. Whenever names were copied from such a source 
there was some notation put on by you which indicates the 
source, is that right f A. I don't understand that question. 

Q. In each case where the names were copied from 
such a list you put on something which indicated where 
the list came from T A. Yes, I did. 

Q. rCan you tell us what business directories you used on 
those lists T 

The Court : Just a second, Mr. Isserman. I de­
sire to take a look at this one. 

Mr. Isserman: All right, sir. 

(Question read.) 

( 4483) A. Poor's and the Directory of Directors. 
Q. Was Who's Who used as a source for names T A. 
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"Tho's Who in New York, and Who's Who in Engineer­
ing. 

Q. And was the Social Register used as a source for 
names? A. Yes. 

Q. Now the names which you compiled yourself and 
turned over to the clerk, where did you get those names 
from, Mrs. St. Clair? A. You want to know year by yearf 

Q. Yes. Do you mind telling it that way? A. Very 
well. In 1938 Who's Who in New York and Who's Who in 
Engineering, and a few volunteers. It amounted to about 
a thousand names ; 770 from the Social Register. 

Q. Have you any tabulation upon which these figures 
appear 1 A. Yes. 

Q. In your offices~ A. Yes, in my office. Yes, I have all 
this in my head. 

Q. Will you give us the next year 1 A. 1939 t 
Q. Yes. A. About 2,058. 
Q. And where did they come from? A. 2,016 came from 

the Social Register and the balance volunteers through 
members of our Association. 

Q. And the next year? A. 1940. Around 2,000. 
Q. And where did they come from? A. I will have to 

think back. I do not have a note here. 
( 4484) Q. By all means if you have anything which 

will help you refresh your recollection use it. A. Well, as 
I recall it, about 2,000. (After examining paper.) Where 
were we 1 1940 1 

Q. I believe we were. 

The Court : Yes. 

A. 1,212 names during the summer of 1940 were compiled 
from alumni directories. 

Q. And would you go on and give us the rest of itt A. 
For 19401 

Q. That is right. For 1940. A. Do you want the names 
of the directories? 

Q. That is right. A. Princeton, Columbia, Poor's and a 
few volunteers. 

Q. Were there more names for 19401 A. That is all. 
Q. How about 1941 ~ When you say "Princeton" was 

that the Princeton Club or the regular- A. No, Princeton 
alumni directory. 
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Mr. Gordon: That is what she said; the alumni 
directory. 

A. (Continuing) 1941. 2,180 names which included 3'50 
women who were wives of members, and some volunteers, 
and 48 Negro men and five Negro women; lists obtained 
from one of the members of the Association and a lady up 
in Harlem. 

( 4485) Q. What year was that, please 7 A. 1941. I 
have not finished 1941. 

Q. Continue, please. A. During December 1941 work­
ing with the assistant to the jury clerk an additional 4,327 
names were made available to the jury clerk for·the grand 
and petit jury. 

Q. From what sources 1 A. Harvard Directory, alumni 
directory. 

Q. And how about 19421 A. Still working up to April 
1942, the .Association still working in conjunction with the 
assistant to the jury clerk, an additional list of 4, 730 names1 

were made available from the Yale and Directory of Di­
rectors. 

Q. Who was the assistant to the jury clerk at that timeT 
A. At that time Mr. George Tanner. And during the bal­
ance of the year 1942 and early part of 1943 the Associa­
tion submitted to the new jury clerk an additional list of 
approximately 1500 men from the Dartmouth directory and 
Directory of Directors and a few miscellaneous letters, 100 
women who were volunteers, 414 Negroes, 214 of which 
were men and 200 women, a total of 2,064 names. 

The Court: What year is that1 
The Witness: That is 1942 up until Aprill943. 

Q. Now in connection with the names of Negroes that 
were submitted, do you know the circumstances under which 
(4486) you submitted those names? A. Are you asking 
~s~oof · 

Q. Yes. A. Yes. 
Q. What was the source? A. I obt:;tined them through 

Mr. Hubert Delaney who is now Judge Delaney of the Do­
mestic Relations Court. 
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Q. What were the circumstances under which you ob­
tained those names 1 A. I asked the gentleman who used 
to be an assistant United States Attorney if he could pro­
cure such a list for me and he procured it through Judge 
Delaney. 

Q. What was the name of the gentleman whom you 
asked~ A. Mr. Thomas Todarelli. 

Q. How did you come to ask for Negro names~ 

Mr. Gordon: I object to further questions along 
that line. 

The Court : Sustained. 
'Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, there is tes­

timony on this already in the record and I would 
like to get the balance of the facts concerning this 
issue on this record. 

The Court: I think we are getting the facts. I do 
not desire any argument on it; whether she hap­
pened to go to that man or not. I cannot see what 
bearing it has. 

Mr. Isserman: I will go on to something else. 

(4487) Q. Did you receive any requests to get names 
of Negroes from anyone connected with the clerk of this 
court T A. Yes. 

Q. From whom did you receive that request~ A. From 
Mr. Borman. 

Q. Did you get that list in re!Sponse to his request? A. 
Yes. 

Q. Did you get any other lists in response to Mr. Bor­
man's request from other sources 1 

Mr. Gordon: Do you Inean other colored lists T 
Mr. Isserman: No. I mean other lists of names. 

A. Well, as I just said, we submitted those names-

Mr. Gordon: I object to the question as assuming 
facts not in evidence. 

The Court: He is ju1st asking whether she got 
any further lists. 

Mr. Gordon: As a result of Mr. Born1an 's re­
quest. 

The Court: Oh, well, I will sustain that. 
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Q. Did Mr. Borman request you for other lists? A. 
He requested me to get lists of NegroeJS-I am wrong. I 
was mistaken. lie requested other people but we had been 
sending these lists down there and so I handed them in to 
him. 

Q. Didn't you on occasion get names from financial 
( 4488) institutions in this city for submission to the jury 
clerk 1 A. During which time? 

Q. Any time during the period of your services with 
the Association. A. Well, ·we rnade an effort in 1936, and 
through the chairman of our panel cominittee--

Mr. Gordon: I object to that, your Honor. 
The Court: Yes. Strike it out. Did you get 

such a list? 
The Witness: "\Ve got such a list, but it is not 

very long. It was a short list. 

Q. Is that list contained in the exhibit which is before 
you? 

Mr. Gordon: The objection goes back to 1936. 
It is a little too remote. 

The Court : Yes, it is too remote. 
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, there are 

jurors serving on the panel that go back beyond 
1936. 

The Court: I thought when you began the theory 
was to go back ten years, which 1seemed to me cer­
tainly a period beyond which it would seem unrea­
sonable to go. I thought it was your own suggestion, 
or your colleagues' that a ten-year period would be 
the one suggested. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I indicated 
the Tolman report in 1941 dated back three or four 
years in describing the JSystem. 

( 4489) The Court: I shall not allow anything 
back of 1936. That is too remote. 

Q. Now since 1937 did you receive any letters from 
corporations or financial institutions submitting names 
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which you turned over to the clerk of this court 1 A. 
No. 

Q. Now I asked you to, in the subpoena served, produce 
correspondence between your Association and the Adminis­
trative Office of the United States Courts relative to selec­
tion of grand jurors in this district. .A. I have some here. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, I am going to object 
to any correspondence that has not to do with the 
gelection. 

The Court: Yes. I think that is part of the 
matter that was stated to be confidential and com­
munications with the AdminiJstrative Office I shall not 
allow. 

Mr. Gordon: I also object on the ground it is not 
r-elevant to the work of the clerk's office. 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Isserman: May I state my grounds for 

asking for this~ 
The Court : Very briefly. 
Mr. Isserman: ~1y grounds in asking for the 

correspondence is that that correspondence will in­
dicate that the Grand Jury Association participated 
in the plan described in the Tohnan report and co­
operated with the ( 4490) clerk of this court and 
the jury clerk of this court in carrying out the pro­
visions of that plan. 

The Court: Yes. I will sustain the objection. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Now did you at any time subn1it names to the clerk, 
the jury clerk of this court, for grand or petit jurorn which 
you received from the New York Telephone Company 1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection unless the time is fixed. 
The Court: Did not the witness say that all 

the names wer-e in the lists that have been mar ked in 
evidence¥ 

Mr. Isserman: I do not kn·ow if all the sources 
are given. 
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The Court: All the names are there, are they 
not? 

The \Vitne~s: Yes, your Honor. 
Mr. Gordon: She listed the sources. 
The Court: Yes, and they are all in there. 
1\fr. Isserman: I would like to ask if included 

in those sources is the New York Telephone Com­
pany. 

The Witness: No. 

Q. Or Consolidated Edison Company1 A. No. 
Q. Now have you, in re~Sponse to the subpoena which 

was served on you, records of your association showing 
expenditures of moneys in connection with work done in 
the office of the clerk and the jury clerk of this court t 

( 4491) 1\fr. Gordon: That is a question which 
assumes a state of facts not in evidence; contrary to 
the facts, that is, that they did work in the- office of 
the jury clerk, and I object on the further ground it 
is irrelevant. 

Mr. Isserman: I am merely asking if the wit­
ness has responded to the subpoena. 

The Court: Then you ought not to put ~o much 
in your question. All you want to know is whether 
she answered the subpoena. 

Q. Do you have that subpoena before you with which 
you were served? A. Yes. 

Q. I call your attention to item 16 in the subpoena rela­
tive to expenditures of funds by the association for ser­
vices performed in the office of the clerk or Jury Com­
mllisioner of this court and ask you if you have brought 
those records with you 1 

Mr. Gordon: I object to it as before. 
The Court: You object to the subject matterf 
Mr. Gordon: Yes, sir. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Isserman: I would like to make an offer of 

proof. 
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The Court: Haven't you already made it~ You 
asked questions relating to those expenditures and 
the objection lis made and I sustain the objection. 

( 4492) Mr. Isserman: I would like to state to 
your Honor what we would prove by the proof of 
those expenditures 1 

The Court : I do not think I desire to hear any 
more of these so-called offers to prove. You claim 
that the expenditures of the Association are relevant 
and you have raised the question, objection has been 
made, and I have excluded it. If you want to get 
anything about the lllits that 'vere obtained or lists 
that were given here I have given you every latitude 
and you have every one of them in evidence. I 
should think that that would suffice. I cannot see 
that the expenditures of the association have any­
thing to do with the case. 

Mr. Isserman: No. These expenditures were 
for work done in the office of the clerk and to assist 
the clerk in his work, and it become.s relevant 
to this issue and we are prepared to prove it. 

The Court: I understand but I sustain the ob­
jection to all that. 

Mr. Isserman: May I ask one question on the 
subject, subject to the objection~ 

The Court: You know you have made these 
extravagant offers of proof and I rather have an 
idea if you go to make another one you would cover 
all kin&s of extravagant things that will just com­
plicate the ( 4493) situation, but if you desire to 
reframe another question you may do so. I have 
held so far that the expenditures of the Association 
are not admissible. 

Mr. Gordon : This is the sort of thing, your 
Honor, that Mr. Isserman tried to get in indirectly 
when Mr. Borman WaJS on the stand, and it finally 
appeared in work of this kind that he refers to, if 
it ever took place it took place back in 1930 or 
1931. 

The Court : I remember that. 
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Q. 'Vhen you started ·working for the Association, Mrs. 
St. Clair, wasn't there a person employed by the As­
sociation who did work in the office of the clerk of this 
court in reference to keeping up the jury system 1 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Do you know hovl the duplicate set of hiJstory cards 
which is contained in your office files-how that was com­
piled 1 A. Yes. 

Q. How was that compiled~ A. It was compiled prior 
to my coming to the Association in 1929, by an employee-

lVIr. Gordon: Just a moment. 
The Court: You see, that is an instance. He asks 

if you know, and I think youT very aruswer indicates 
you know nothing about it but you go blindly on and 
say ''Yes, I know,'' and proceed to tell us some­
thing ( 4494) you could not possibly know be­
cause you were not there, isn't that true' 

The Witness: That is true, your Honor. 
The Court: I think you had better be careful 

and say what you know. 
The Witness: I am sorry. 
The Court: It hs a common thing. Everybody 

does it, but try to avoid it if you can. 

Q. Did not the Association have, in 1932 and 1933, 
when you were employed by the Association, a person 
whom they paid working in the office of the clerk of this 
court 1 A. No. 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. I will withdraw the 
objection. 

The Court : Yes. When you see an objection is 
to be made just refrain from answering until I 
rule. 

The "\Vi tness : I am sorry. Th:Ls is my first ex­
perience. 
. Mr. Gordon: In connection with this time ques­

tion, that is, the period of time, on page 17 of the 
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affidavit of counsel which is attached to the motion 
papers, paragraph 11th starts: ''Shortly before 
1940." That se-ems to be a guide as to the time in­
cluded in their motion. 

Q. Have you a list of the 1948 officens of the ( 4495) 
Association 1 A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And does that include the executive board 1 .A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Is that in compilation fonn 1 Do you have it here f 
A. (Witness produced paper.) 

~Ir. Iss-erman: I would like to have this marked 
for identification. I withdraw that. 

Q. Have you a list for the 1948 officern 1 A. I am sorry. 
I will take that one back. 

Mr. Isserman: No. I will mark both of them. 
May I have these marked as the next exhibit num­
ber in order 1 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 309 and 
310 for identification.) 

Mr. Isserman : If the Court please, I would 
like to offer Exhibits 309 and 310 for identification 
in evidence. 

Mr. McGohey: 1\{ay we see them, please. 

(Handed.) 

Mr. Gordon: I object on the ground they are 
irrelevant. 

The Court : Sustained. 
Mr. I&Berman: I would like to be heard on that, 

if I may. 
The Court : No. I desire no argument. 
( 4496) Mr. Isserman : Your Honor will not per­

mit it1 
The Court: That is right. 
~:lr. Isserman: And not allow me to state my 

grounds why I believe it is relevant1 
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The Court: I do not desire argument, and that 
is what I call argument. You know we offer a paper 
and it is evident enough what is on the paper and 
extended argument or any argument is not going to 
be had right now. I ruled the other day I wrus not 
going to hear any more argument because argument 
had been so abused. 

Mr. Isserman: I must take objection to your 
Honor's statement. 

Q. Now the Grand Jury As~ocia tion from time to time 
engages in political activities, does it not~ A. Definitely. 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. I did not hear the 
answer but I object. 

The Court: I did not either. If there was an 
allliwer I will strike it out. What has the political 
activity of the Association got to do with it? 

1fr. Isserman: The political activities of the 
Association tend to show the character of the As­
sociation who in the past ten years has submitted 
18,000 names to thlli court, and the character of the 
Association's political activity, and business conn.ec­
tions of the ( 4497) officers tend to reflect the char­
acter of the lists submitted. 

The Court: vV ere those lists prepared on ISOme 
political basis 1 

The Witness : No, indeed. It is ridiculous. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection to the 

political activities. I do not see what that has to 
do with it unless these names were selected on some 
political ba!Sis, which the witness says is not so. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, the officers 
of the Association, and the policy of the .Association, 
is necessarily reflected in the manner and method 
and sources from which names are selected, and 
covered-

The Court: I think that hrus been the whole 
trouble with this proceeding. You try to reason 
backwards and say you find certain officers of the 
Association, because some of them, or all of them 
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may be Democrats or Republicans or what not, you 
think it is a fair inference that therefore the whole 
business of the name~ they submitted was political. 
I just don't agree with that and I sustain the ob­
jection. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, that is not 
the point, that the whole list which was submitted 
was political but the character of the list :Us deter­
mined by the business and financial connections of 
the officers ( 4498) and politics of the Associa­
tion. 

The Court: Yes. I rule against that. 
Mr. Isserman : If the Court please, I will d:Us­

continue the examination of this witness, not because 
I have completed the examination but because of the 
time limit which your Honor has put and the balance 
of the time left to the defense to put in their case, 
so I terminate the examination at this time before 
having completed it. 

Mr. Gladstein: I have a few questiolli3 to ask of 
the witness. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mrs. St. Clair, did you ever obtain information from 
the clerk of this court during the years you were submitting 
the lists of names as to the percentage of those names who 
were found qualified and who became juror~.S ~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 

(Question read.) 

The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you ever check with the clerk to ascertain from 
one year to another the extent to which the names you 
were submitting of people actually went into the jury 
system1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
( 4499) The _Court: Sustained. 
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Q. Do you have any indication ~rol!l the clerk or any­
body connected with the clerk t? ~ndiCate ~he extent to 
which the names that your A.ssoc1ahon subnutted on these 
lists that have been put in evidence here today, actually 
became people in the jury ~System, grand or petit t 

},fr. Gordon: Same objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Can you deny-
1'1r. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court: You know this is direct examination 

and you have had a good deal of experience and 
know how to put questions. 

},fr. Gladstein: I withdraw it. 

Q. Is it a fact, ~Irs. St. Clair, that a majority, to your 
knowledge, of the people who became grand and petit 
jurors in this court can1e from the lists that your As­
sociation submitted 1 

11:r. Gordon: Your Honor, I cannot characterize 
the conduct of couilJSel. 

The Court: You object1 
~1r. Gordon: I do object. 
The Court: I sustain the objection. 
11r. Gordon: It is obviously for propaganda 

( 4500) purposes. 

Q. Mrs. St. Clair, did you ever get word from Mr. 
Tanner or ~1r. },,fcl{enzie or Mr. Bor1nan, Mr. Follmer or 
any of the officials of this court advising you that they 
were satisfied with the type of people whose names were 
on the list...; that your Association submitted? 

Mr. Gordon: Same objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Gordon: And I object to further questions 

along_ this line,. on ~he ground they are leading in 
the d1rect exam1nahon of counsel's own witness. 

Q. Whose idea was it, 1virs. St. Clair-
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The Court : I will make no direction because of 
the limitation of time. 

Q. Whose idea was it to have the AsJ.Sociation, your 
Association, prepare and procure these names and prepare 
lists and submit them to the clerk of this court1 

Mr. Gordon: I object. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Do you know, Mrs. St. Clair, who proposed, during 
any period of time when you were connected with the As­
sociation and had the relationlS you have already described 
with the clerk's office of this court, do you know at whose 
suggestion the idea was developed of your Association 
preparing these lists such as have been ( 4501) intro­
duced in evidence here today~ 

Mr. Gordon: I object as irrelevant. 
The Court : Smstained. 

Q. Whose idea was it, ~Irs. St. Clair,-

The Court: You are proceeding as though yon 
were cross-exam~ning. This is your witness. 

Mr. Gladstein: It is not my witness. I did not 
call this wi tne.ss. 

The Court: Oh, do you claim you are entitled 
to cross-examine as though a witness called by the 
prolSecution ~ 

Mr. Gladstein: It is not a witness called by me 
and it is a witness who has never accommodated me 
or discussed anything with me or indicated any 
willing~ess to discusiS any of the testimony she was 
to give. 

The Court: Well, I do not think the test of 
whether a witness is being examined on direct ex­
amination or cross-examination is whether counsel 
has had the privilege of conversation with the wit­
ness. In any event, I will rule on the questions as 
they arise. 
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Mr. Gordon: I will object to this line of exam­
ination, your Honor, accepting Mr. Gladstein's state­
ment that he can cross-examine the witness, on the 
ground that his cross-exmnination is not germane to 
the direct examination and has no bearing on the 
( 4502) llisue of credibility. 

The Court: Yes. 

Q. Mrs. St. Clair, I call your attention to the lists that 
have been received in evidence. You will recall that you 
testified listing off a series of nan1es such as Poor's Di­
rectory and the Directory of Directors and other sources 
from which the nam~ came. That you recall, don't you? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Now do you know who determined that those sources, 
as indicated on the lists received in evidence here this 
morning, that were prepared by your Association, do you 
know who determined that those sources should be used. 

Mr. Gordon: I object. 
The Court: SUJStained. 
Mr. Gordon: Including he stated facts not in 

evidence. 
The Court: Yes. I sustain the objection. 

Q. Do you have any knowledge, ].1rs. St. Clair, as to 
whether it was someone in your Association or someone 
connected with the clerk's office who decided that Poor's 
Directory, or Register of Directons should be used as a 
source from which the names of potential jurors should 
be taken~ 

Mr. Gordon: Same objection. 
The Court: Sustained. Mr. Gladstein, in my 

( 4503) view it makes no difference whatever. 
Mr. Gladstein: \v~ho decided f 
The Court: Who decided they were to use these 

in the organization of the Federal Grand Jury As­
sociation. The testimony has been given and each 
and every name on every one of thoJSe lists is in evi­
dence and I cannot see that it makes a particle of 
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difference whether the president of the Association 
sugg€sted it or the vice-president or the panel com­
mittee. 

Q. Now did you ever submit a list of names taken from 
the alumni directory of the City College of New York 1 A. 
No. 

Q. Did you ever submit a list of names consiJsting of 
people who appear in the alumni directory of N·ew York 
University~ 

~1r. Gordon: Just a n1oment. As I understand, 
they never submitted any lists of names of any 
alumni directory. 

Mr. Gladstein: I said "taken from.'' 
The Court: Mr. Gladstein, you have all the 

names in evidence, and yet-
Mr. Gladst€in: I just wanted to s€e if the wit­

neSJ.S might have overlooked CCNY. 
The Court: And I call your attention to the fact 

you may argue from that whatever you care, as to 
those names that do not appear there. 

( 4504) ·Q. Did you ever submit a list obtained from, 
or supply a copy of, the alumni directory of Tuskegee 
Institute1 A. No. 

Q. Or Howard University? A. Where is Howard 
University1 

Q. You did not, I take it. A. Where is it 1 
Q. Did you do so or not! 

Mr. Gordon: You understand, your Honor, this 
is pure propaganda.' Tuskegee is not in New York 
City. 

Mr. Crockett: Nor is Harvard. 
Mr. Gladstein: I don't think Harvard, Dart­

mouth and Yale are either. 
The Court: I think you had better pass to some­

thing. I have ruled the facts are already in evi­
dence and you may argue that there is no directory 
from any college that is omitted which was not put 
in. That is all there. You have all the data from 
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which to make whatever argument you choose to 
make. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. Just a few questions 
more. 

Q. Do you know a man named J. Donald Duncan f A. 
I have met him. 

Q. Do you know him to be the Jury Commissioner 1 
A .. I know he is Jury Commissioner. 

Q. When did you have occasion~ 

( 4505) J\fr. Gordon: This is not germane to 
the direct, nor by way of credibility. 

Mr. Gladstein: If it is not germane to the direct 
then it is, beyond in1plication, proper-

The Court : You run from the mark like a racer 
without giving me a chance to rule. You remember 
how I said I did not want to hear argument. I will 
overrule the objection. 

Q. You may answer. 

Tbe Court: When did you first meet Mr. Dun­
can, if you did meet him 1 

The Witness: I cannot just recall the year. I 
think when he was appointed. 

(4506) Q. Was it shortly after his appointment as 
jury commissioner, to your recollection? A. I believe so. 

Q. Now did you have occasion to work with him in any 
way in connection with the lists that your Association 
compiled and submitted to the jury clerk for use as a 
way of obtaining jurors~ A. No. 

Q. None at alB A. None. 
Q. Did you have business relations with Mr. Duncan 

exclusively? A. No. 

The Court : I don't know what you mean by 
"business relations." 

Q. Well, did you have any bu~iness relations that in­
volved- A. I had no relations of any kind. 
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Q. Did you have occasion to meet him regularly in 
connection with your work1 A. I think I met him just once. 

Q. Is he a member of your Association 1 A. Certainly 
not. 

Q. Is he an honorary membcr1 A. No. 
Q. Is Judg-e Knox a member 1 A. No. 
Q. lie is an honorary member1 A. No. 
Q. Are you sure of that 1 A. Positive of it. We have 

no honorary members. 
Q. Did you have honorary members? A. We have no­
Q. I say, did you 1 

1\fr. Gordon: Well, that is objected to, your 
Honor. 

(4507) 1\fr. Gladstein: Well, she says "We have 
no". I suppose that means now. I am asking 
whether there was a period of time when they had 
any . 

.A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. Did you attend the last annual meeting of your Asso­

ciation when the annual report of the president was given 1 
A. Yes. 

Q. Was there in addition to your president of your 
Association another chief speaker or main speaker 1 A.. 
The last annual meeting' 

Q. In 1948. A. Yes. 
Q. Was that chief or main speaker J. Parnell Thomas t 

A. No. 
Q. Who was the chief speaker? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Now was there a meeting of the Association at 
which J. Parnell Thomas was a speaker? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: I offer to prove that if the wit­

ness were permitted to answer she would admit that 
this-
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The Court : What is the use of doing that all the 
time, Mr. Gladstein~ You ask a question which is an 
obvious offer to prove, and then when an objection 
is made you ( 4508) want to make a speech about 
it. 

Mr. Isserman: I just have one other question, 
if the Court please. 

The Court: Very well. 
1\1r. Isserman: Which I will ask now. 
The Court: You may do that as part of your 

direct examination. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Mrs. St. Clair, on occasion the lists of members of 
your Association are published in The Federal Juror, are 
they not 1 A. The entire membership~ 

Q. No, certain members from time to time. A. New 
members. 

Q. That is right, and you compile those lists T A. Yes. 
Q. And you cause them to be inserted in the Federal 

Juror? A. Yes. 
Q. How many members does your Association have 

today 1 A. About 600. 
Q. Have you a list of those members with youf A. Yes. 
Q. And are these members all members on the active 

list of the Federal grand jury in this district~ A. We 
have some associate members. 

Q. Are the associate members designated as associate 
members 1 A. Yes. 

Q. And those who do not have that designation are 
( 4509) members on the active grand jury list of this 
court, is that correct? 

Mr. Gordon: She testified that she did not know 
whether they were on the active list. 

Mr. Isserman: Just a minute. I think she said 
she did know. 

A. Well, I wouldn't have-
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The Court: What do you mean by ''an active 
list''~ You mean they paid dues 1 

Mr. Isserman: No. I mean that they are on the 
active list of grand jurors in this court, in the files 
of the clerk of this court. The clerk testifies he has, 
I believe, some 1800, approximately 1800 names on 
a grand jurors' list. 

The Court: Your contention, and that of your 
colleague's, is that if a grand juror on the active 
list is a member of the Federal Grand Jury Associa­
tion, that that disqualifies him as a grand juror f 

1£r. Isserman: We haven't said that, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Then I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Isserman: I would like to give you my con­

tention in respect to my-
The Court: No; I will disallow it. If you want 

to prove which one of the grand jurors are members 
of this Association, I thjnk it is not relevant. 

(4510) Q. Do you have the membership list with you1 
.A.. Yes, I have a membership list. 

Mr. Isserman: lvfay I have it marked for iden­
tification~ 

Mr. Gordon: Well, I object. 
Mr. Isserman: Well, I would like to have it 

marked, your Honor, because-
The Court : In this case I think it is unneces­

sary. 
Mr. Isserman: Well, I would like to say that 

we purport showing through the introduction in 
evidence of that list, that the members of this Asso­
ciation, some 600 in number, are members who are 
on the a.ctive list of grand jurors of this court; 
it would show their business connections and indi­
cate that in substantial part, in overwhelming part, 
the members of this Association are persons of the 
class which we have claimed in our challenge have 
been included to the exclusion of the groups we 
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refer to, namely, the class being the wealthy, the 
propertied, the economically powerful and well­
to-do. 

The Court : Well I exclude the list. I hold that 
the proof of membership is not relevant to any of 
the issues here. 

Mr. Crockett : If your Honor please, because of 
the time limitation I will not be able to examine 
this ·witness as fully as I would like to, but I do 
have one ( 4511) or two questions I should like 
to ask. 

By Mr. Crockett: 

Q. Mrs. St. Clair, how many Negro members do you 
have on the Federal Grand Jury Associationf 

Mr. Gordon: I object. 
The Court : Su.stained. 

Q. Do you have any Negro officers of the Federal Grand 
Jury Association 1 

Mr. Gordon: Object. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q . .Among the list which you have produced here in 
court and which has been marked in evidence, have you 
indicated on each list that contains the names of Negroes 
the word ''Colored'' or some other designation indicating 
that they were Negroes~ 

Mr. Gordon: Well, there is no proof that she 
knows whether they are Negroes. 

The Court: Sustained. Mr. Crockett, if there 
is such indication we can see it by looking at the 
papers. 

Q. If there is no indication on a list submitted by you, 
Mrs. St. Clair, indicating the race of the particular person 
whom you are recommending for iury duty, does that mean 
that he is not a member of the Negro race? 
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Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court: Sustained. 

( 4512) Q. In submitting the list of names to the jury 
clerk, Mrs. St. Clair, did you indicate in any manner what 
race the particular person whose name is included be­
longed to~ 

is. 

1\ir. Gordon: I object. 
The Court : Sustained. 
Mr. Gordon: She does not know what the race 

The Court: Well, the papers are all in evidence, 
Mr. Crockett, every single name that came from this 
source or was in these directories and copied off 
by Mr. Tanner, every single one of them is in evi­
dence here. Now you can examine those lists and 
see just what they show. You have it all in, so I 
cannot quite see what more you want here. 

Mr. Crockett: Is the Court prepared to assume, 
and would I be justified in assuming that lists that 
are not denominated "Colored" or "Negro" do not 
contain the names of any Negroes 1 

The Court: I make no assumption. 
Mr. Crockett: Well, that is what I am trying 

to find out from the witness. 
'rhe Court: This witness was not the jury com­

missioner or the jury clerk. She did what she has 
testified to. Now as to whether the jury clerk or the 
jury commissioner or the deputy clerks made some 
selection one way or another, that is the question 
before the Court. 

( 4513) l\rlr. Crockett: But there has been tes­
timony here, your Honor, to the effect that-

The Court: Well, I sustain the objection. 
Mr. Crockett: -lists were received with that 

designation on there. Now this witness has testified 
that she submitted lists, that she submitted lists that 
were denominated ''Colored.'' 
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The Court : Well, her testimony is in the record, 
and I think our arguing about it doesn't accomplish 
anything. 

J\fr. Gladstein: That is all of this witness. I 
want the record to show, so far as I am concerned, 
that I limited my questioning for just a few minutes 
because of the time limitations imposed by the Court 
last Friday, directing· us to end our case tomorrow 
evening, and therefore in view of other evidence 
that is necessary to be introduced here, I have re­
frained fron1 examining J\frs. St. Clair on matter 
that I deem material to this case, and my inability 
to examine her on these other matters, and I am pre­
pared to state what they are, I deem harmful and 
prejudicial to the interests of my clients. 

The Court: Do your colleagues desire to speak 
on that subject~ 

J\fr. Crockett: Not extensively, your Honor, 
( 4514) except to say that I ~support each thing 
that 1Ir. Gladstein has said, and I would like for 
the record to indicate that my examination of this 
witness was limited to less than five minutes be­
cause of the time limitation imposed by the Court. 

1\fr. Isserman : If the Court please, the only 
thing I would like to note for the record is when I 
asked for another question or two, that that did not 
complete my examination, but I terminated only be­
cause of the time limit which has been placed on 
the examination. 

1\fr. Gordon: Just a moment here. What is 
going on 1 

The Court: This young man has been taking 
great wads of these papers, and I think something 
·should be done. · 

Mr. Gladstein: I will be happy to state for the 
record 'vhat it is. This young man is employed 
by me, and I have asked him to count the number 
of lists contained in each of the batches supplied 
by the Grand Jury Association to the clerk's office 
here, and which lists or batches have been received 
in evidence today. 
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The Court: Yes. All I am talking about, Mr. 
-Gladstein, is not to get them apart and mixed up. 
You know they had, as was pointed out earlier, just 
strings or rubber bands around them, and I am just 
saying for him to be careful that he doesn't get 
them mixed up, that ( 4515) is all. 

Mr. Gladstein: And I .asked him to count them 
so as to insure that we wouldn't get mixed up, 
Judge. 

The Court: You know, Mr. ,Gladstein, how sim­
ple it is for one thing to lead to another. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, with the 
permission of the Court what we would like to do 
is to put each batch in some appropriate envelope 
with an appropriate marking. 

The Court: I think that is a very good sug­
gestion. 

Mr. Isserman: So that they will remain intact. 
The Court: I think that is an excellent idea, 

and I think should be done bv l\'fr. Borman here 
during the luncheon recess. " 

Mr. Isserman: Very well. 
The Court : Now is there any cross-examina­

tion, 11r. Gordon? 
Mr. Gordon: No, your Honor, but in connec­

tion with the list I will anticipate that Mrs. St. 
Clair may desire that son1e element of custody re­
main in the Association, since they are the records 
of this Federal Grand Jury Association, and I am 
going to suggest they be left in the custody of Mr. 
Borman. 

The Court : Very well. 
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, these are­
( 4516) The Court: Do you want to take them 

home with you? 
Mr. Isserman: We would like to studv them 

tonight, if your Honor please. ~ 
The Court: If you expect to take all those docu­

ments away from the court and home with you, I 
think you probably-well, I will give it contsidera­
tion, that is what I will do. I will think about it. 
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It is a little unusual and I wouldn't think it should 
be done but perhaps I will give it a little further 
consideration. 

:Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, what we are 
~oncerned with is not taking them home but we do 
\Vant to work on them this evening. 

The Court: I did not mean your place of resi­
dence; I meant wherever you chose to go to. Let 
us not consume time with such idle discussion as 
this. I will consider the matter as to whether at 
the close of the session today I will permit you to 
take those away with you. 

l\fr. Gordon : No questions. 
The Court: All right. The next witness. 
11r. Isserman: If the Court please, may the 

witness be excused subject to further call after the 
examination of these records, should that examina­
tion reveal, notwithstanding the limitation of time, 
that we would want to ask her some further ques­
tions 1 

( 4517) The Court: She will be subject to recall. 
I do not see what would be the legal effect of my 
making such a direction. Every witness may be re­
called, and I haven't the slightest doubt that if you 
desire this young lady to come back, all you have to 
do is call her up and she will come over. 

(Witness excused.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Will you call Mr. J. Donald 
Duncan, please. 

J. DoNALD DuNCAN, called as a witness on behalf of the 
defendants on the challenge, in rebuttal, being duly sworn, 
testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. Gladstein : 

Q. Mr. Duncan, are you the jury commissioner of this 
court T A. I am. 

Q. And how long have you held that position 7 A. 
Since February 1911-I beg your pardon, 1941. 
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Q. You were appointed, were you notT A. Yes, sir. 
Q. By whom, sir 1 A. Judge Knox. 
Q. Now your occupation is that of an attorney at law, 

is that soT A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And your office engages in the practice of law in 

New York City1 A. Yes, sir. 
:Q. At what address 1 A. 50 Broadway. 
Q. And for how long have you been associated with 

(4518) that office? A. In 50 Broadway? Since 1927. 
Q. And prior to that time at some other address, is 

that it? A. That is correct. 
Q. Now what is the name of that firm 7 A. At the 

present time 1 
Q. Yes. A. Hooker, Alley & Duncan. 
Q. Would it be correct to say in general that the chief 

character or the chief type of law practice engaged in by 
that firm is corporatef A. I think that is fair. 

Q. Yes. Now at the time that you were appointed by 
Judge Knox-is that correctf A. Yes, sir. 

Q. -in February 1941, I suppose that appointment 
was preceded by some discussion between you and Judge 
KnoxT 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Well, prior to your appointment by Judge Knox 
did you have occasion to discuss that appointment? A. 
No, sir. 

Q. You mean it occurred without any prior knowledge 
on your part? A. It did, sir. I was very surprised. 

Q. You received the appointment in writing1 A. No, 
sir. She spoke to me and then I suppose he entered an 
order. 

Q. Now where were you-where did the conversation 
occur or take placeT A. I think he asked me to come to 
( 4519) his chambers. 

Q. Was anyone else present f A. Not to my recollec­
tion. 

0. Anti there he asked you to take the appointment, 
did he T A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. And you agreed, did you 1 A. I certainly did. 
Q. And that was the same day that he made the ap­

pointment? A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And then he did ask you and give you notice of the 

appointment before he made it, correct Y 

Mr. Gordon: I can think of no legal claim that 
Mr. Gladstein can make that this witness is not 
called by him, and I want to object to the leading 
question and the argument with the witness. 

Mr. Gladstein: I an1 glad that Mr. Gordon re­
minded me. I should have announced at the out­
set, and I do now say that I called Mr. Dunc~n as 
an adverse witness who, as the jury commissioner 
of this court, is an adversary in this proceeding 
which involves the challenge against the validity 
of the-

The Court : I think there is something in that. 
You charge him with part of this conspiracy and I 
think I shall rule that he is an adverse witness and 
give you certain latitude in your examination by 
reason of that. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 

Q. Now when you entered upon your duties as jury 
( 4520) clerk I suppose-

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 

Q, Excuse me, I did not mean "jury clerk"; I meant 
"jury commissioner". When you entered upon your du­
ties as jury commissioner did you make a study of the 
system of selecting jurors both petit and grand in this 
court T A. I don't think I made any study, no, sir. 

Q. Well, did you talk to any of the attaches of the court 
to ascertain in what manner jurors were selected 7 · A. I 
did. 

Q. Yes, and in the course, in due course you learned 
from your observations, your discussions and such investi­
gation as you made, just how jurors were selected, isn't 
that right? A. That is correct. 
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Q. All right. Now did you learn in 1941, shortly after 
your appointment as jury commissioner, that the :b'ederal 
Grand Jury Association was supplying lists of names to 
.tl;le c~erk's office here for use as jury n1aterial ~ A. I don't 
know when I learned that. 
. Q. But you do recall that you did learn it 1 A. At some 
time or other, yes. 

Q. Well- A. And I would say not that they were 
supplying it, I heard that they had supplied it. 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact, sir, that you learned in 1941 
that they were supplying name~, not only that they ( 4521) 
had but they were supplying narnes 1 A. I am sorry, but 
I can't agree with you. 

Q. You cannot agree1 A. I cannot agree that I learned 
in 1941. 

Q. Well, do you have a recollection, sir, of having made 
a written report on the subject of the manner of jury selec­
tion in this court, that report being dated in the year 
19427 . A. I do . 

. Q. And I asked you, indeed, by subpoena duces tecum, 
to produce your copy of that report, did I not? A. You 
did. 

Q. Do you have it with you 1 A. I do not. 
Q. Do you know where it is 1 A. It should be in the 

court house somewhere. 

Mr. Gladstein: Will your Honor be good enough 
to dispatch a deputy? 

The Court: What have you to say, :Nir. Gordon T 
Mr. Gordon: This is the same document that 

counsel has been trying to get for weeks. 
The Court: Is this one of the ones that was 

in the file brought here by the Administrative Office T 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor-
Mr. Gordon: Just a moment. 
Mr. Gladstein: -are you asking this of Mr. 

Gordon or of meT 
( 4522) The Court: \Vell, I was asking 1fr. 

Gordon. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Well, I will wait until Mr. Gor­
don has answered and then perhap.s I have an an­
swer to the question. 

Mr. Gordon: May I put one question to the 
witness 1 

Mr. Gladstein: No; I object to that. 
Mr. Gordon: Which is in connection with this. 
Mr. Gladstein: I object to Mr. Gordon inter-

rupting with even a part of a question while I am 
examining him. 

The Court: I am going to allow it just the same. 
What is the one question T 
Mr. Gordon: Is the report that you and Mr. 

Gladstein are discussing a report which was sent 
to the office of the Administrator of the United States 
Courts? 

The Witness: I believe so. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
1fr. Gladstein: May I be heard T 
The Court: Objection sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: .All right. 

Q. Mr. Duncan, in the course of your official duties as 
jury commissioner you had occasion, did you not, to pre­
pare a written report setting forth data and facts concern­
ing the manner in which jurors were selected for petit and 
grand jury service in this court in the ( 4523) year 1942, 
isn't that so1 A. I don't know as it was part of my duty 
as jury commissioner. 

Q. Did you 1 A. I answered a request from Wash­
ington. 

Q. Well, you do not regard-was that request addressed 
to you as jury commissioner or as a lawyer7 A. It was 
addressed to me in care of the clerk as jury commissioner. 

Q. And did you reply to that questionnaire as jury com­
missioner or just as a lawyer? A. As jury commissioner. 

Q. All right. Then isn't it so, sir, that the report was 
prepared by you and sent in the course of your discharge 
of duties connected with the office of J·urv commissioner7 
.A. I- . ~ 
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Mr. Gordon: I object. The duties of the jury 
commissioner are in the statute. 

The Court: Objection sustained. 

Q. Did you-

The Court: I have already ruled on all those 
things. 

Mr. Gladstein: On all what things! 
The Court: When Mr. Chandler was here. 
Mr. Gladstein: That may be true regarding 

Mr. Chandler-
The Court : Well, this is not an is·sue here, to 

pry into the confidential matters of the administra­
tion ( 4524) of justice. In any event, as long as 
I sit here and rule on it it will not become such. Now 
that is one of those confidential docun1ents that was 
called for by the Administrative Office of the Fed­
eral Courts and rendered accordingly, and in the 
classification of docu1nents which IVIr. Chandler said 
he regarded as confidential. 

Mr. Gladstein: Would your Honor give me five 
minutes to argue the law on that without taking it 
out of the time limitation you have imposed upon 
us, because I have some law on the subject. 

The Court: Very well. 
Mr. Gladstein: In other words, does the point 

that your Honor may regard as a rule of privilege or 
confidence that surrounds it with son1e protection­

The Court: You see, this is a criminal court 
we are sitting in now. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: And I cannot have everybody who 

desires to pry into the secrets and workings of the 
court. You have your facts here about the jury 
.system. This particular report was rendered to the 
Administrative Office, that is a confidential docu­
ment. 

Mr. Gladstein: It is not a confidential document 
in so far as the files of this witness are concerned. 
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It was prepared in response to a request. A copy 
of the ( 4525) letter is in the files. It was a letter 
prepared, as the witness says, containing data deal­
ing with the .system of jury selection. Therefore it 
is immaterial to the issues we are concerned with 
here, and it is not confidential because I have see~ 
it and had made notations of it. I have copies of it. 

The Court: \V ell, you have seen a lot of things 
around here. One minute you say you saw this and 
that, then the next minute you did not see this and 
that. I have no way of telling exactly what anybody 
has been looking at, but whether you looked at it _or 
not isn't the test of whether it is admissible here~ 
and I am going to rule it out. ' . 

Mr. Gordon: I have a further objection, if. th~re 
is further discussion on it, your Honor. I believe 
that the report is incompetent as a hearsay docu­
ment. Here is a man who is part of the system. He 
is the one who can testify to what he does and what 
is done. 

Mr. Gladstein: Exactly correct, and any docu­
ment that he has created in writing as a past record, 
connected with the official discharge of the duty of 
his office is evidence I am entitled to get. 

The Court: Well, JYir. Gladstein-
Mr. Gladstein: It i:s the best evidence. . 
The Court: -I may be wrong about th:ls-
( 4526) Mr. Gladstein: You are wrong, Judge. 
The Court: You think I am wrong on a good 

many things, and kept telling me how I was going 
to be reversed, and maybe I am, but I can only do 
the best I can, and I feel that matters that Mr. 
Chandler as head of the Administrative Office of the 
Federal Courts has indicated were confidential, are 
matters that I should not have disclos·ed here. · 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. _ 
The Court: Now if I am wrong about that, why 

of course you have your remedy, but mere 'repetition 
and reiteration isn't going to change my ruling. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
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Q. Anyway, you entered upon the discharge of your 
duties as jury commissioner in February 1941; that is 
correct, isn't it, sir? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And isn't it true that two months later in April1941 
Judge Knox appointed you trustee of the Equitable Office 
Building Corporation 1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Are you a trustee or officer of the Equitable Office 
Building Corporation~ A. I an1. 

Q. When did you first receive your appointment as 
trustee 1 A. In April1941. 

( 4527) Q. And who appointed you? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Was the appointment-it was an appointment, was 
it not, as trustee 1 A. Yes, sir. 

Q. A judicial appointment, was it f 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Was it an appointment made in this courtt 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. I cannot see what that 

has to do with the case at all, Mr. Gladstein. 

Q. You are also president now of the Equitable Office 
Building Corporation, are you not, sir7 A. No, sir. 

Q. Were you at a117 A. For one year. 
Q. And when was that7 A. I think it was December 

1947. 
The Court: We will now adjourn for lunch until 

2.30. 

(Recess to 2.30 p.m.) 
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(4528) AFTERNOON SESSION 

J. DoNALD DuNCAN, resumed the stand . 

• 
Mr. Crockett: If your Honor please, you will re­

call that this morning Mr. McGohey and I stipulated 
on the record with reference to a witness, Rose Katz, 
and also the witness Phillip Lewerth, who were sub­
poenaed to appear here today. 

The Court : I do~ 
Mr. Crockett: During the recess, two other wit­

nesses, Henry Peters and Russell Lakestream, were 
interviewed by Mr. l\fcGohey and myself, and I 
understand that the same stipulation might prevail 
as to those two witnesses. 

Mr. McGohey: That is agreeable to me. 
The Court: Very well; that has the approval of 

the Court. · 
(4529) Mr. Crockett: I should like the record 

to indicate, however, that the addres.ses of these wit­
nesses are : Rose Katz, 1113 Finley A venue, Philip 
Lewerth, 1122 Finley A venue, Henry Peters, 1112 
Finley, Russell Lakestream, 1117 Finley. 

The Court: Now I do not quite understand what 
you are telling me about those addresses. 

Mr. Crockett : Well, those are the addresses 
given for them on the list of registered voters that 
was introduced in evidence, from which it was testi­
fied that their names had been copied for the purpose 
of sending notices, and I merely want to indicate 
that they still reside at that place. That is where 
they were served with .subpoenas to come down 
today. 

The Court: And that they would so testify if 
called1 

Mr. Crockett: That is right. 
The Court: Do you stipulate that, Mr. McGoheyf 
Mr. McGohey: I stipulate that if they had come 

on the .stand they would testify that they had not 
received notices to come in and qualify. 
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The Court! And that they reside at the ad-
dresses given in that list of registered voters? 

Mr. McGahey: Oh, yes. 
( 4530) The Court: Very well. 
Mr. Isserman: Your Honor, simply to identify 

jt a bit more clearly for the record, the names ap­
pear on page 7 of the list of registered voters for 
the 2nd Assembly District of the Bronx for 1946. 

Mr. McGahey: What is the exhibit numberf 
The Court: Well, that is Exhibit 183-B. 
Mr. Isserman: Exhibit 183-B. 
Mr. McGahey: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Shall I proceed, your Honorf 
The Court: You may. 

Direct exarnination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. ·Now, Mr. Duncan, when you entered upon the dis­
charge of your office as jury clerk- A. Jury commis­
sioner. 

Q. -jury commissioner-! am sorry if I keep demoting 
you. I ·should not do that. A. That is all right. 

Q. You of course undertook to find out what authority 
you had over the jury clerk; that is so, isn't it1 A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you ascertained that you had certain directory 
or supervisory authority over his office; isn't that so f 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to; the statute 
speaks for itself. 

The Court: Yes, sustained. 

Q. Now di~ you undertake to give any directions to the 
( 4531) jury clerk 1 A. When I first started, no, I don't 
believe so, because I found that he was carrying out his 
duties as I understood them to be. 

Q. Did you undertake to find out what the clerk was 
doing in order to obtain jurors for this court 1 A. Yes. 

Q~ Did you learn that the practice of the jury clerk's 
office was such that jurors were being qualified in large 
numbers whose names were taken from lists supplied by 
the Federal Grand Jury Association f 
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Mr. Gordon: That is objected to as characteriz­
ing the testimony. \Vhy not ask him-

The Court: Yes, sustained. 
~fr. Gladstein: In what way is it characteriz­

ing it? 
The Court: Ask him what he learned. You may 

direct his attention to any particular subject matter. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is all I had in mind, to savG 

time, and I am mindful of your Honor's ruling this 
morning which permits me to ask leading questions 
of this witness rather than simply ask general ones. 

The Court: That is right. 
:Mr. Gladstein: Well, may he answer this ques­

tion 7 
The Court : No. I think you have characteriza­

tions in there. 
( 4532) Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
The Court: If you just ask him if it was told to 

him or if he ascertained such and such a fact-
Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
The Court : -and don't put too much into one 

question. Those long questions, the assumptions of 
fact and conclusions are alway,s puzzling to wit­
nesses, and I think here it is better to have a single 
subject matter at a time, but I don't direct you 
necessarily to do that. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 

Q. Well, Mr. Duncan, did you learn that the jury clerk's 
office in 19·41 was obtaining lists of names of potential 
jurors supplied by the Federal Grand Jury Association T 
A. Not in 1941 as I remember it. 

Q. When did you first learn that? A. I think some time 
in 1942. 

Q. Can you date that a little for me; the early part of 
1942 7 A. It might have been. I can't do better than that. 

Q. Well, it was prior to the time that you rendered a 
written report to the Administrative Office of the United 
States Courts, isn't that so~ A. I think so. 

Q. And that report you made in 1942, did you notT A. 
If that is the date, the answer is yes. 
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Q. Is that your recollection~ A. I would have to ( 4533) 
look at it to know for sure. 

Q. All right. Now-

The Court: When you say ''obtaining''­
Mr. Gladstein: I beg your pardon 1 
The Court: -I suppose you merely mean receiv­

ing. We had some other testimony about where 
there was discussion over the question of "pro­
curing" and "obtaining," and I take it you merely 
intend to ask him whether he at the dates mentioned 
ever received lists from this Federal Grand Jury 
Association. 

The Witness: That is my understanding, Judge. 

Q. Now did you also learn either in 1941 or early in 
1942 that the lists of names that were being obtained by 
the jury clerk's office from the Federal Grand Jury Asso­
ciation were made up from particular sources1 A. No, sir. 

Q. When did you first, if at all, learn that any of these 
lists of names supplied by the Grand Jury Association 
came from Poor's Directory of Corporation Directors? A. 
I don't know that I have ever heard that yet, Mr. Glad­
stein. 

Q. Isn't it a fact sir, that in your report to the Adminis­
trative Office of the United States Courts you expressly re­
ferred to Poor's Register of Directors as a source from 
which the names of potential jurors came~ 

( 4534) ~1r. Gordon: Your Honor, that is ob­
jected to. It flies in the face of your Honor's ruling, 
and it is not contradictory of what the witness just 
said. 

The Court: I know. 
Mr. Gladstein: I don't know how-
The Court: You see, you were asking him before 

whether he knew that these names from the Federal 
Grand Jury Association came from such and such 
a source1 

Mr. Gladstein: Oh, I see. 
The Court: And now you are asking him-
1fr. Gladstein: Very well. 
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The Court: -superficially what might seem like 
the same thing, but it isn't. 

Mr. Gladstein: I see; then I will put the ques­
tion this way : 

Q. Mr. Duncan, then without reference to the lists sup­
plied by the Grand Jury Association I will ask you when 
you first learned, if you ever did, that Poor's Register of 
Directors was used as a source of names of persons to be 
sent notices to come in and qualify as jurors 1 A. About 
that same tin1e. 

Q. That is, prior to May 1942 ~ A. Yes. 
Q. And did you at the same time learn that the Engi­

neers Dire-ctory was being used as a similar source 7 A. I 
think I had heard that. 

( 4535) Q. And did you learn that the Social Register 
was being used as such a source 1 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, isn't this in the field 
of hearsay as to what somebody told him or what he 
learned 1 

The Court : Well, these are clerks that operated 
under his supervision or at least to some extent, so 
I understood the question, although it did not spe­
cifically say so, to mean in substance whether he was 
told by .some of the men working under his super­
vision that the Social Register was being used.· 

That is what you meant. 
Mr. Gladstein: And thus learned it to be a fact 

in the course of Mr. Duncan's ascertainment of what 
the situation was in the clerk's office, naturally he 
being jury commissioner. 

The Court: Whether any of these men working 
under you told you that the Social Register was 
being used. 

The Witness: My best recollection on that, 
Judge, is that I learned about the Social Register 
part of it from Miss-what is her name? 

Q. Ruth St. Clair? A. ~fiss St. Clair-only recently. 
Q. All right. Now did you at about the same time, that 

is, prior to May 1942, learn in the course of your observa-
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tions or study of the activities of the jury clerk's office, 
that a .source of names put to the same use was ( 4536) 
various college and university alumni directories~ A. Put 
to the same use~ 

Q. That is to say, names were obtained from such 
sources and the persons whose names they were were sent 
notices to come in and qualify, and if they qualified- A. 
I have no direct recollection on that. 

Q. You don't recall that 1 A. If it is in the report it is 
there. 

Q. Did you learn that the address telephone book was 
being used in the jury clerk's office as a method of obtain­
ing the names of potential jurors? A. Yes. 

Q. And did you learn that the chief .source of your 
jurors as of prior to May 1942 was that address telephone 
bookY A. I think that question was asked but nobody was 
too certain about it. 

Q. Isn't it so- A. I think that I may have been told 
that at one time, around 1941, that they were using the tele­
phone address book to a great extent but they had no 
.record, as far as I knew, to be able to tell me which was the 
real source. 

Q. But what you learned in any case from your subordi­
nates there, or the clerks in the office, was that in their 
judgment the chief source of names of the jurors was that 
address book 1 

Mr. Gordon: That is not his testimony. 
( 4537) The Court: Yes. 

Q. Did you ever, Mr. Duncan, report in writing to any­
one a statement that the New York Telephone Directory 
address edition book was the chief source of jurors 1 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, that question is not 
only improper but counsel know.s it is not . 

. The Court: You object to it, do you t 
Mr. Gordon: Yes, sir. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Now after learning of these various sources, Poor's 
Register, the Engineers Directory and so on, did you de-
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cide whether the practice of resorting to such directories 
for names to be used to call people in to qualify as jurors 
should continue 1 A. Why not 1 I don't think I ever an­
swered the question, Mr. Gladstein.. It was not raised. 

Q. My point is did you continue, learning the facts, de­
cide to permit that to continue? A. It would be all right 
with me, yes, sir. 

Q. Was it in fact continuing1 A. I could not answer 
that without looking at the records. 

Q. But you gave no instructions to discontinue such 
practices, did you~ A. No. 

Q. At the time that you learned that Poor's Directory 
( 4538) of Directors was being used as a source of poten­
tial jurors were you listed in that book? A. I never 
looked at it, Mr. Gladstein. 

Q. You were a director of a number of corporations 
then, were you not? A. I was and am. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that you were then listed in Poor's 
Corporation Directory as the director of- A. You have 
to show me the book. 

The Court : Just a second. I sustained an ob­
jection to that question and you answered before he 
had an opportunity to object again. 

Q. Now at the time,-this is part of May, 1942-were 
you a director in the Solvay American Corporation? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Were you a director then of the Mexican Light & 
Power Company1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Were you not a director of the Barcelona Light & 
Traction Company? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 
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Q. Were you a director of Securities, Limited T 

Mr. Gordon: Is there any way in which we can 
( 4539) stop this line 1 

Mr. Gladstein: No, there is not. 
The Court: Mr. Gladstein, you may pursue that 

inquiry as far as you choose but I shall continue to 
rule the same way. It does not seem to me to be ma­
terial here as to how many directorships this witness 
held, and as far as the book is concerned if you de­
sire to note the fact it will be the fact that his name 
was in that directory. I will permit you to do that. 

Mr. Gladstein: I have a late edition, and not 
the one that was current then. 

The Court: The question is how they adminis­
tered the jury system-

Mr. Gladstein: And who administered, and with 
what biases, prejudices and interests. 

The Court: I don't think it is material to ask 
each one of the men who administered the system 
where he lives and who he married and how much 
money he has or how many directorships he has or 
how poor he was ; all those circumstances seem to 
me to have no bearing. 

Mr. Gladstein: However, your Honor will per­
mit me to ask the question 7 

The Court : I certainly will. I don't see any 
reason why you should not except for the passage 
of time. 

( 4540) Q. Were you also, as of May 1942, a director 
of Amitas, which was a corporation T 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Were you then a director of Compagnie Hispana 
Americana, Spain T 

Mr. Gordon: Same objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
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Q. Were you a director of the l\Hssouri, Kansas Pipe-
line Company 7 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
What purpose can be 1served, Mr. Gladstein, by 

you reading them of£1 You n1ight go on with a thou­
sand I would ahvavs rule the same. 

Mr. Gladstein:~ Not a thousand, because he was 
not a director of a few corporations. 

The Court: If it is to give the impression that 
the facts are as stated in your questions, despite my 
rulings that the questions are not relevant, then I 
think you are doing something that it is not proper 
for an attorney to do. 

~Ir. Gladstein: I am sorry, your Honor. I am 
prompted to disagree with your IIonor's view. 

The Court: vV ell, you may proceed, but I am 
( 4541) beginning to suspect that if it is another 
iootance of what we have had earlier in this trial, 
and you ought to know better than to try to convey 
the impression as to what the answers might be by 
the iteration of questions to which I have sustained 
objections,-

Mr. Gladstein: Then in that event I will have to 
refer for the record to 1-fr. J. Donald Duncan, who­

Mr. Gordon: I am going to object to Mr. Glad­
stein, under all the circumstances, reading from a 
book which was offered in evidence and wrus rejected. 

The Court: I have told Mr. Gladstein if he de­
sires to have it appear that Mr. Duncan's name is in 
the book I will perrnit that, but I will not permit 
him to go on to say the number of different corpora­
tions he claims he is a director of except those that 
I have ruled out. 

Mr. Gordon: If Mr. Gladstein will show me the 
page in the book, I will agree his name is in there 
if it lli. 

~Ir. Gladstein: On page 1912 of Poor's Register: 
Mr. J. Donald Duncan-
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Q. Were you born in 18941 A. Yes, sir. 
Q. At East Orange? A. Yes, sir. 
Q . .A graduate of Columbia University-

The Court: Now that it seems to me is open 
to the same objection I voiced a minute or two ago. 

( 4542) ~1r. Gladstein: I just want to identify 
the gentleman rus being the one who is here. 

The Court: I understand that you say it, but 
it sounds a little devious to me. 

Mr. Gladstein: Nothing devious. It indicates 
this is the Mr. J. Donald Duncan. 

The Court: It has been conceded by Mr. Gordon 
that his name appears in the book. 

Mr. Gladstein: In that column about six line~ 
above the bottom commences the name of Mr. Dun­
can. 

The Court : I did not permit you to read it. 
Mr. Gladstein: I just want the record to show 

what I am talking about. I am not going to read­
The Court : Then I will change my ruling and 

the reference to the book is out. If you choose to 
abuse the matter that way I will dispose of it. 

Q. Were you a director of Sofina which is an interna-
tional cartel1 

Mr. Gordon: Same objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: And I also want to say for the 

record that Mr. Duncan'~ name appeared as a di­
rector-

The Court: I have withdrawn my permission to 
state his name was in the book. I found after I did 
that you did what seemed to me to be abusing the 
privilege, so ( 4543) you may not make reference 
to his name appearing in other books. I consider 
it entirely irrelevant. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer to prove that if the wit­
ness were permitted to answer the que!Stions I have 
put to him, and other questions of the same nature, 
he would testify in answer to those questions-
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Mr. Gordon: I object to this. 
Mr. Gladstein: I a1n making an offer of proof. 
The Court: Mr. Gladstein, I consider the que3-

tions which you asked, and as to which I sustained 
objections, as clearly showing what you offered to 
prove and I direct you to desist in making any fur­
ther statement of an offer of proof, or alleged offer 
of proof, in connection therewith. 

Q. Now, Mr. Duncan, of course you knew, as a lawyer, 
at the time you embarked on your dutie13 as jury com­
missioner that ·corporations have litigation in the Federal 
courts~ You knew that, didn't you~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And oecasionally that such litigation comes up be­
fore juries~ That is so, isn't it~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And that on various occasions in this Southern Dis­
trict a grand jury has occasion to consider whether or not 
it shall return indictments against the officers of corpora­
tions 1 You knew that 1 A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Such matters as tax evasion and matters of that 
(4544) kind~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Antitrust violations and things of that kind 7 A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you take any precautions to insure that there 
would be no manipulations or maneuvering within the jury 
clerk's office with respect to the mechanical, honest rotation 
of your active juror cards~ A. I did not have to as far 
as I know. 

Q. You were ~tSatisfied with Mr. McKenzie, is that itt 
A. Certainly. 

Q. What is that f A. Certainly. 
Q. Certainly. N o'v you mentioned, did you not, that 

the practice followed was one of rotation so as to, if pos­
sible, all things being normal, have jurors serve roughly 
every two years? Correct 1 A. Not necessarily. 

Q. But generally that was so, wasn't it 1 A. It may 
have happened that way. 

Q. Wasn't that the practice and general purpose 7 A. 
I would say it was so that they did not serve within the 
time forbidden by the statute. 
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Q. And that was what1 A. At the present time two 
years, but at one time it was one year. 

Q. Then it is fair to say, isn't it, that the general prac­
tice in the office was such as to have jurorB serve not 
oftener than- A. Not oftener than-

( 4545) Q. -every two years 1 A. No, not necessarily. 
Not oftener than. 

Q. And, if possible, to have them serve roughly every 
two years 1 A. Not as far as I was concerned. 

Q. You gave no instructions one way or other 1 A. I 
watched the cards to see they did not serve oftener than 
the time forbidden. 

Q. Did you watch to see the cards so that certain ones 
were on to serve every two years, while others were skipped 
by for a period of four or five years 1 A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you ever find that to be a fact 1 A. I never as­
certained it. 

Q. Did you ever undertake to find out if that was soT 
A. No, sir. 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court: He saYJ.S no. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I have the blue card of Mrs. 

Helen Rosen, Challenge Exhibit 1751 

(Exhibit handed.) 

Q. Now there has been testimony by Mr. McKenzie on 
the question of how often jurors, grand and petit, are 
called on to serve and there are cards in evidence on that 
subject. There has also been testimony that from time 
to time when a person i~a called he gets excused because 
( 4546) he may be ill or it may interfere with a business 
matter at that moment. You learned, as jury commissioner, 
that problem would come up1 A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And the practice, you learned, was to give a 
temporary excuse for that period and have the juror called 
at some future date, is that right? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. I a~ak you to look at this card, Exhibit 175, which 
shows Mrs. Helen D. Rosen became a grand juror, qualified 
as one, on the 3rd of October, 1941. She was called and 
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excused on April 6, 1943, and has never been called since. 
Do you know whether it is the practice of your jury clerk 
here to skip over certain cards for particular reasons while 
calling other jurors f A. 113 that your testimony; that she 
has never been called since? I don't know. 

The Court: The question is whether, to your 
knowledge, they did that sort of thing, so that some 
people they would not call at all and other people 
they ·would call. Did you have knowledge of any 
such practice? 

The \Vi tness : No, Judge. 

Q. Did you know what the practice was on that sub­
ject 1 A. I would not know of any practice to do that. 

Q. To do what? A. What you are characterizing. 
Q. You mean to skip certain ones and ruse others 1 

( 4547) A. That is right. 

J\;fr. Gordon: This card, your Honor-
Mr. Gladstein: He is looking at another card, 

Judge, he is about to tell you about another card 
and I have a tin1e limitation. 

Mr. Gordon: Mr. Gladstein is using up his time 
making up Inisstatements. 

The Court: Is there Borne misstatement about 
Mrs. Rosen's card~ 

l\1r. Gordon: There certainly is. 
The Court: You may point it out. 
Mr. Gordon: He gave a date when she was 

qualified on the grand jury. lie said it was 1941. 
She was transferred from the petit jury to the grand 
jury in May of 1942. 

l\1r. Gladstein:. The card I read I think I read 
correctly. 

The Court: The period 1941 is what you in-
dicated. 

Mr. Gladstein: Does it 1;;;ay that? 
The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Gordon: That is what he said but the card 

does not show that. 

LoneDissent.org



2376 

J. Donald Duncan-for Defendants on Challenge­
Rebuttal-Direct 

The Court: The card says she was qualified then, 
whereas, as I understood fro1n your statement, Bhe 
was called as a grand juror then 1 

Mr. Gladstein: I do not think so. 
( 4548) The Court: That is just a Inisunder­

standing. 
:1\tlr. Gordon: Maybe l\tir. Gladstein does not know 

what the fact is. I am not charging him with any­
thing deliberate. She wru.s, I think, qualified as a 
petit juror in October, 1941, and subsequently trans­
ferred to the grand jury and the date shows on the 
card May 12, 1942. 

The Court: I think that is so. 
Mr. Gladstein: I think that is what I said. 
The Court : Then go ahead with the next ques­

tion. 
Mr. Gordon: And there is no testimony where 

she worked or what her occupation is and whether 
she is now eligible. 

The Court: The only question is, as I under­
stand it, whether the witness knew she had been 
deliberately avoided and other people taken and he 
says "No." 

Q. Did you learn, Mr. Duncan, that registered lists of 
voters were being used from time to time as a source of 
jurors~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. It has been testified here that in the year 1947 and 
the year 1948, while various numbers of notices to come 
in and qualify went to people whose names were found in 
certain of the Assembly Districts in Manhattan, no notices 
as to the 11th, 12th, 13th and 14th Assembly Districts. 
Was that in accordance with any instructions f A. No, sir. 

( 4549) Q. Was it contrary to any instructions you 
gave1 A. Not that I know of. 

Q. Did you give no instructiooo on that subject? A. 
I gave no instructions for specific-

Q. Did you give any instructions with respect to the 
general use of Assembly Districts? A. Only to use the 
registered voting lists as far as possible. 
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Q. In what manner did you instruct they be usedf A. 
I gave no instructions. They continued the use they had 
been doing. 

Q. When did you give such instructions; the ones you 
refer to 1 A. To use the registered voting lists~ 

Q. YeJS, when f A. About the time of 1942. But that 
was not the first time I learned they had been using them. 

Q. When you were giving those instructions did you 
tell them whether or not they were to use all of the As­
sembly Districts~ A. No, Mr. Gladstein, because I under­
stood from the chief clerk, 11:r. Follmer, that they were 
using the meallJS available to get as good a cross-section 
of the public as they could within the statute and within the 
usage of the funds of the court. 

Q. Did you ever undertake to find out whether that 
was being done in practice 1 A. I had no criticism of it 
brought to my attention, except once-

( 4550) Q. Would you please listen to the question I 
asked and direct your answer. 

Mr. Gladstein: Will you repeat, Mr. Reporter. 

Q. (Read.) A. I did not have to. I had no complaints. 
Q. Did you do it, sir 1 A. Well, the al1JSwer would be, 

No. 
Q. All right. It should have been ''No" the first time 

rather than the third. 

Mr. Gordon: I move to strike out the comment. 
The Court: Strike it out. 

Q. Did you ever undertake to find out what the jury 
composition ,~.ras.like in terrns of how many workers you 
had among the Jurors and how many executives and cor­
poration directors you had 1 A. Not particularly, no. 

Q. You say "not particularly." Did you or not? A. 
I saw some of the panellish3 from time to time. 
. Q. And you took no action after seeing those panel 

hsts of any kind 1 A. No, sir. 
Q. You regarded as a fair cross-section of the com­

munity, did you, for a jury panel to have 50 per cent or 
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more of the jurors on that panel being corporation di­
rectors~ 

l\fr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Did you regard it rus a cross-section of the people 
for jurors to be obtained from registered lists of voters 
( 4551) in particular areas to the exclusion of other areas f 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that. That is not the 
evidence. 

The Court: Well, did you know that to be the 
fact~ 

The Witness: No, sir. 

Q. You mean you did not know and do not know yet 
that during the period of your being jury commissioner 
there have been years when certain AJ.ssembly Districts 
have never received notices, that is people living in there, 
while in other districts the converse was true? A. I have 
no personal knowledge except what you are telling me and 
what I learned. 

Q. And you never took the trouble during your super­
vision of the office to find out' A. That is correct. 

Q. Did you in the course of your study in 1941 or 1942 
of what the jury system wrus like, discover that with re­
spect to Negro jurors a designation was placed on their 
cards to distinguish them from others? A. You are making 
long statements again, Mr. Gladstein. I do not like the 
idea of ''study.'' I never made any study of the subject 
as I understand the word ''study.'' If you will restrict 
your question to the latter part I will answer it. 

Q. ·All right. Did you find that' A. That what 7 
( 4552) Q. That a "C" was placed on the cards of 

Negro jurors 7 A. I saw some Cs on cards, yeJS, sir. 
Q. When did you first see those? A. I think around 

early 1942. 
Q. Did you give any instructions with respect to the 

continuance or discontinuance of that practice? A. No, 
sir. 
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Q. Did you ever examine the questi?nnaires .that pe?ple 
are required to fill out when they c?me ~nto qua!1fy f?r Jury 
15ervice to see whether any question IS contained In that 
questionnaire concerning race or color~ A. I examined 
the application. 

Q. And you kn,ow the application ~oes. not contain any 
such question, isn t that so? A. That IS right. 

Q. And you are, of course, aware of the section of the 
law which provides that there shall be no exclusion of any 
person from jury service by reason of h:Us race, creed or 
color 1 You knew that~ A. Absolutely. 

Q. And you always knew it throughout the time you 
were jury commissioner 1 A. Yes, sir. 

( 4553) Q. Did you learn, Mr. Duncan, that a process 
of complete revision of the jury system had been taking 
place and was being completed at about the time that you 
became jury commissioner 1 

1\fr. Gordon: Objection; not the evidence. The 
questions are asked, your Honor, as though these 
are established facts. 

The Court: Yes, that is right; I will sustain the 
objection. 

Q. At the time that you became jury commissioner 
was a revision of the jury system taking place 1 A. Not 
to my kno,vledge. 

Q. Did you not report in a letter, in May 1942, that 
such a revision had occurred~ 

:J\tfr. Gordon: Your Honor, I object to it. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that you said in writing in May 1942 
tba.t you had made a study of the methods adopted in the 
Umted States District Court for the Southern District 
of New York with respect to the selection of jurors? 

1fr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. 'Veil, isn't it a fact that you did make such a study1 
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The Court: He has already said that he did 
( 4554) not make a study. 

Mr. Gladstein: I am asking him again, though. 

A. I don't know what kind of a study you are talking 
about. I made no study, as I understand the word ''study.'' 

Q. How do you understand it, sir? A. Just as you 
would if you went to school. 

Q. Did you make an examination and from your ob­
servation come to certain conclusions about the system 1 
A. I don't know of any system, Mr. Gladstein. I know 
what is being done in this court with respect to the-

Q. I mean the method. A. -selection of jurors; I 
know that, yes. 

Q. All right. Now that is what I am asking about, 
and I am asking about the observations and whatever 
questions you put and. answers you got from which you 
obtained information in this period, 1941-1942. A. If you 
are asking for my observations, the best answer I can 
give you is that it is satisfactory. 

Q. And you said so at that time, didn't youf A. Yes. 
Q. You also said that you-

Mr. Gordon: Now your Honor, I object to these 
statements made at another time; there is no basis 
for it. 

The Court: Yes. 

Q. Did you decide that jurors who, although qualified 
( 4555) and eligible to act by law, were undesirable for 
other reasons, should be removed from the active files 7 
A. No. 

Q. Did you learn that that was taking place 1 A~ No. 
Q. Did you ever report in writing that the cards of 

active jurors were removed for undesirability as well as 
ineligibility? A. I have no such recollection. 

Q. But, of course, if the document that you wrote were 
presented to you you could refresh your recollection from 
what you wrote, isn't that so 1 A. If you could show me 
any such document over my signature I would, of course, 
admit it. 
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Q. The copy thereof is in the office upstairs, and you 
referred to it this morning. A. You are making a state­
ment I do not know anything about. 

Q. When is the last time you saw it 1 

The Court: Now ~1r. Gladstein, that communi­
cation with the Administrative Office is not going 
to come in here. Those confidential matters in 
accordance with the statement made earlier are 
going to stay confidential. 

Q. Now isn't it a fact that the sources from which 
the names of jurors came, Poor's R.egistry and the others 
that you mentioned, were ·sources as to which you directed 
( 4556) the jury clerk to obtain names from 1 

Mr. Gordon: There has been no testimony here 
as to all the sources yet from this witness. Mr. 
Gladstein has carefully restricted it. 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to the question. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
~fr. Gladstein: I withdraw the question. 

Q. Is it or is it not a fact that the New York Telephone 
Directory, Poor's Register of Directors, the Engineers 
Directory, College and University alumni directories, 
names submitted by the Federal Grand Jury Association, 
recommendations of Judges of the court, and lists of reg­
istered voters were used as sources from which to obtain 
names in 1941 and 1942 upon your direction as Commis­
sioner, that the jury clerk secure names from such sources? 
A. Mine and the clerk of the court. 

Q. Then your answer is "Yes," partly-partly your­
self and partly the clerk~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Of course, when I asked about that Telephone Direc­
tory, you understood I was referring to the address tele­
phone book1 A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you ever undertake to find out whether the 
social and economic groups of this community, of this 
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district, were properly represented in the jury system 
(4557) paneH A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you ever express an opinion on that 1 A. No, 
sir. 

Q. Did you ever investigate in any way at all to find 
out what the social and economic composition of the juries 
and the active jury files were 1 A. No, sir. 

Q. Nevertheless, didn't you report in writing-

The Court: Now, Mr. Gladstein, if you are going 
to appear to read from that confidential document, 
I tell you not to do it. You have a lot of papers in 
your hand which may or may not be a copy that 
you purported to have made of that paper. I have 
ruled that those confidential documents are not to 
come out here, and I am not going to permit you 
to give the appearance of reading from one of those 
papers by doing what you have been doing, so please 
don't do that. 

Mr. Gladstein: I can't look at notes, my own 
notes~ 

The Court: No, but you see I have seen that 
done in court before, and it seems as though you 
were giving the impression to me, and perhaps to 
others, that you have there a copy that you made of 
this paper that I have persistently ruled out and 
that you are reading from that. I don't know 
whether you mean to do it or not but I ask you not to. 

( 4558) Mr. Gladstein: Well, in answer to your 
Honor '·s question I did see the letter-

The Court: You said so already today. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, and I am reading from a 

copy that was made of the letter. 
The Court: Well, it makes it worse. I thought 

it was the one that you made but now it is one that 
someone else made, and that paper is out. 

Q. Since the time that you have been jury commis­
sioner have you had business or professional matters 
involving yourself come up before Judge Knox1 A. Only 
the Equitable Office Building case. 
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Q. Only that case. You are still a director of that 
corporation, are you~ A. No, sir. 

Q. Are you connected with it in any way? A. No, sir. 
I have not yet been djscharged as trustee. 

Q. And you are still a trustee 1 A. That is right. 
·Q. You receive fees, of course 1 A. I hope to-

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that that corporation is indebted in 
a large sum to the Equitable Life Assurance Society? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Is it indebted-was it-

The Court: I do not see any relation between 
( 4559) that matter and the duties of the Com­
missioner in connection with the jury system. 

Q. Was it at any time within the last five years? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that Judge Knox is a director of the 
Equitable Life Assurance Society? 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Now I will ask you this: Was it during the period 
that you were jury commissioner your considered and 
deliberate intention to have a system of selecting jurors, 
operate as it has been operating and with the results that 
are shown in the composition of the files T A. Yes, sir. 

Mr. Gladstein: I have no further questions, with 
this exception : I now ask the Court to reconsider 
and reverse its previous ruling with respect to the 
document, and I want to argue some law. This is a 
document, which is a letter written by this witness-
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The Court: I am afraid, Mr. Gladstein, that 
you are not going to have the opportunity to do it. 
I have ruled that I will hear no argument on matters, 
at the time that I announced it, and I have given that 
careful thought and consideration. It came up be­
fore,, and I do not desire to hear further argument. 

( 4560) 11r. Gladstein: But, your Honor, upon 
the pretext that this is a confidential document, the 
one that I am asking about, the one that was written 
by this witness, you are preventing me from show­
ing without any question the final proof of the cor­
ruption of the system here in so far as they placed 
in charge of it a man who wa.s the director of a 
dozen corporations, who-

The Court: Mr. Gladstein-
Mr. Gladstein: :May I finish, Judge1 
The Court: I consider your language offensive 

and not fitting for an officer of this court to use when 
you speak of a ruling by the Court as done under a 
pretext, and use such other language as you used 
there. You must know that you are doing some­
thing that you should not do, and I direct you to 
desist. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, I ask that you 
-consider the la.w that applies to this question be­
cause-

The Court : I heard what you said. 
l\1r. Gladstein: Do you refuse to have a memo­

randum of law submitted to you 1 
The Court : And I consider the language 

offensive. 
Mr. Gladstein: Do you-
The Court: And you know, you know that it 

is, but of course it may be pleasing to some of the 
people. 

( 4561) Mr. Gladstein: Well, that is not-I have 
never said anything-

The Court: But that is an additional reason 
why you should not do it. 

1fr. Gladstein: I have never said anything for 
the purposes of pleasing anyone here but for the 
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purpose of trying to put in evidence and to persuade 
your Honor to do what I think the law requires. 

The Court : Well, you are ·not going to provoke 
me, so you might as well stop doing that. 

1\fr. Gladstein: I want to make an offer of proof 
concerning this letter which, according to the wit­
ness's statement, is in this building and readily 
available and which, by the way, Mr. Duncan, it was 
called for in the subpoena that was served on you­
isn't that so~ 

The Court : I direct you not to make this one. 
It is already sufficiently evident in the case what the 
paper is and what your claim·s about it are, and 
mere repetition of it will only serve to use up your 
time that you can employ to better advantage. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. Let the record show 
that it is a letter written in 1\fay 1942 by Mr. Dun­
can, the present witness, and let the record further 
show that I called for that letter, and for the letter 
or questionnaire in which it was a response, to 
which it was a. response-

( 4562) The Court: Now Mr. Gladstein, you 
have again done what I have told you not to do. 

:Mr. Gladstein: I want the record to show that 
I had the subpoena served on this witness. Can it 
not show that 1 

The Court: I understand what you want, but 
the accumulation of these acts of disobedience to 
my rulings is something tha.t concerns you, and I 
hope that you won't keep at it any more. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Do you have the subpoena, so that I can mark it 
as an exhibit, sir~' 

(The wit:r:tess hands to Mr. Gladstein.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Let the record show that the 
witne-ss has handed me, in response to my request, 
a subpoena which I now ask the clerk to mark for 
identification. 
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(]}:larked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 311 for 
identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein: No further questions. 
The Court: Any further direct examination 1 
Mr. Crockett: Was the last Exhibit No. 312? 
The Clerk: 311. 
Mr. Crockett: I should like to offer it in evi­

dence, your Honor. 
(4563) The Court: It may be received. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 311 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

:Mr. 1fcGohey: If your Honor please-
The Court: I think perhaps Mr. Isserman wants 

to ask a question. 
Mr. :McGohey: I just want to let the record 

show that some of the defendants are not present, 
and to ask counsel if that is not under the same 
arrangement whereby each agrees to it. 

The Court: I take it that is under the same 
arra.ngemen t. 

Mr. Isserman: That is so, your Honor. 
Are the lists here~ 
Mr. Borman, do you have the lists from the 

Association 1 
The Clerk: Right in front of you, Mr. Is·serman. 
Mr. Isserman: Oh, in these envelopes 1 
Mr. Ghtdstein: Will you state for the record, 

Mr. Borman, what that last exhibit was 1 
The Clerk: 311. 
The Court: A subpoena. 
The Clerk: Subpoena duces tecum. 

By Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Mr. Duncan, as jury commiSSIOner, did you issue 
( 4564} instructions at any time to the jury clerk in respect 
to obtaining lists from the Federal Grand Jury Association 
of names to be processed for service on grand and petit 
juries in this court 1 A. No, sir. 
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Q. Did you know that such lists were being received 
by the jury clerk from the Federal Grand Jury Associa­
tion 1 A. I heard so, yes. 

Q. Did you have any report as to the quantity and 
number ~nd frequency of those lists 1 A. I don't believe 
so, no, sn. 

Q. Did you know also that certain sources of names, 
such as college alumni and college club directories, Who's 
Who in New York, Who ',s Who, and the Social Register, 
were made available iln the offices of the Association, of 
the Grand Jury Association for use by the jury clerk and 
his assistants for the purpose of taking names therefrom f 
A. I don't know what the Federal Grand Jury .Association 
did, no, sir. 

Q. Do you know what the jury clerk and his associates 
did in respect to obtaining names from the Federal Grand 
Jury Association 1 A. I have heard that they did obtain 
such lists. 

Q. And did you also know that they went to that office 
to copy certain names out of the sources I have mentioned Y 
.A. No, sir. 

( 4565) The Court: Who is the "they" 1 
Mr. Isserman: Referring to the assistants of 

the jury clerk. 

A. I did not know, no, sir. 
Q. Did you at any time have any conferences with any 

officer or member of the executive committee of the Grand 
Jury Association? A. Not until this year. 

Q. Did you know Mr. George Adams? A. No, sir, I 
do not know him. 

Q. Do you know 1rir. Eugene Cantin 1 A. Yes. 
Q. Did you have any conferences or conversations with 

Mr. Cantin prior to this year? .A. I met him at a dinner 
one night but I never discussed jury matters. 

Q. And at no time did you discuss any jury matters 
with Mr. Cantin? A. Not with 1\fr. Cantin, no. 

Q. Did you discuss them with .any other officer or mem­
ber of the executive board of the Grand Jury As,sociation 7 
A. Not discussed jury matters. I met Mr. Shaw at the 
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Federal Grand Jury Association's meeting in Brooklyn 
about a. month ago, and I saw him today in the witness 
room. 

Q. Did you know that duplicate history cards prepared 
in the office of the jury clerk were regularly delivered to 
the Federal Grand Jury Association? A. No, sir. 

:Mr. Gordon: That is not the evidence, your 
Honor; objection. 

( 4566) By Mr. Crockett: 

Q. Mr. Duncan, I believe you testified that you have 
observed a letter C marked on some of the history cards 
in the office of the clerk; is that right~ A. I did see it. 

The Court : History cards 1 
The Witness: Not history cards, but I saw them 

on the jurors' cards. 

Q. What do you mean by "jurors' cards"~ A.. The 
card that is used in drawing the panel. 

Q. You mean the wheel cards~ A. Y e·s, sir. 
Q. Have you any idea how many wheel cards there are 

in the clerk's office that contained the letter CT A. No, 
sir. 

Q. Do you have any approximate idea 1 A. No, sir. 
Q. Would you say there were a great many1 A. I 

really don't know, sir. 
Q. Would you say there were very few1 

Mr. Gordon: There is no evidence that there are 
any, your Honor. 

The Court: I know. There has been testimony 
here, Mr. Duncan, that C's were put on some of the 
questionnaires after a certain time, and there is also 
certain evidence here as to C's on some of the his­
tory cards. I wonder if you are not confusing the 
wheel cards with ( 4567) some of those others. 
Search your recollection a little bit and tell me 
where it was, if you can remember, that you saw 
the C or these C 's which you testified to. 
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The Witness: I may explain that, Judge, it 
was along- about 1942 that :Mr. Follmer and I were 
discussing- the que-stion-

Mr. Isserman: We cannot hear you. 
The Witness: I am sorry. 
It was along- about 1942 that Mr. Follmer and 

I were discussing the question as to whether we 
had any records of the number of colored jurors 
that might be serving, and we were of the 
opinion that we did not, and Mr. Follmer began to 
take a record to get some idea of what were coming 
throug-h; it was a basis of that that he came to his 
conclusions, for a short period of time and I think 
in order to do that the cards or paper were marked 
with a blue C. 

The Court: You see, what I am asking you is 
whatever C 's yon saw, whether you saw them on the 
questionnaire or on the history cards or on the 
wheel cards 1 

The Witness: Well, I think, Judge, that I saw 
them on thE? papers, and I would have said from 
recollection that I saw them once on the back of a 
card that I handled, which I thought was a jury 
card. It was only for a short period of time and-

(4568) The Court: Well, anyway, I am not 
talking about the period, but whether what you saw 
was a wheel card or some other paper, and I gather 
from the way you speak that you are not clear in 
your mind about it. 

The Witness: I wouldn't want to swear to it 
but that is my best recollection. 

Mr. Crockett: Your Honor-
The Court: Well, you did ~say it was on the wheel 

cards? 
The Witness: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I ask some questions based 

on the testimony elicited by your Honor's questions f 
The Court: Yes. 
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By j}Jr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Duncan, as jury commissioner, what-

The Court: Wait; I guess we had better have 
our recess here. 

(Short recess.) 

Q. You said Mr. Duncan, that in 1941 you and Mr. Foll­
mer decided to have a record made of the number of 
Negroes who were on the juries; is that right1 A. Not 
1941. 

Q. 1942f A. I think it was about that time. 
Q. All right; what time in 19421 A. Early 1942. 
Q. Was a tabulation made1 A. Not that I know of. 
(4569) Q. Was a record rnade1 A. Not what I would 

call a record, not. 
Q. Was a record kept 1 A. I don't know of any record 

kept. I think there was .some marking, as I say, of the 
records, to see for a month or so how they were running. 

Q. Well, did you ever learn whether or not those who 
were doing the marking came back with the result of their 
work and gave you a tabulation 1 A. Yes. 

Q. All right, and when did the tabulation get reported 
to you? A. Early 1942. 

Q. And what was the number that the tabulation 
showed 1 A. It wasn't a number; it was a percentage as I 
remember. 

Q. It was a what? A. (Read.) 
Q. And was that in writing? A. To me1 
Q. Was it given to you in writingT A. No. 
Q. Did you see it in writing? A. I think I was told 

it bv Mr. Follmer. 
Q. And what was the percentage figure? A. It was 

over two per cent. 
Q. Was it in writing anywhere? 

The Court: Over what percent 1 
The Witness: Over two per cent. 

Q. Was it in writing anywhere1 .A. I think it might 
haYe been written by the clerk but not to me. 
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Q. To whom was it written 1 A. I suppose he made 
( 4570) his reports. 

Q. To whom 1 A. I suppose he made his reports to 
Washington. I don't know that for certain but I suppose 
so. 

Q. Was this on the occasion when you made a report f 
A. It was. 

Q. So that would be before May 19421 A. Yes. 
Q. Now did you assist Mr. Tolman by giving him in­

formation at the time he came down to make an investiga­
tion? A. I didn't see Mr. Tolman, no. 

Q. You did not meet him~ A. No. 
Q. You have seen his report, have you T A. I have 

read it, yes, sir. 
Q. When did you first read it1 A. That I don't recol­

lect. 
Q. Approximately~ A. I really couldn't fix a time. 

It was after it was made. If you could tell me that, that 
is the best I can do for you. 

Q. Well, it is shown here that it was in December 1941 
that it was made, and I think that is correct, and in J anu­
ary 1942 it was circulated elsewhere. A. It must have been 
then around that time that I saw it. 

Q. Who showed it to you~ A. The clerks. 
Q. Do you recall who~ A. No. 
(4571) Q. Was a copy given to you1 A. Yes; I read 

it. 
Q. I say, was a copy given to you~ A. No, no, I 

haven't a copy. 
Q. And was that the jury clerk's office that one of the 

clerks gave it to you 1 A. I read it there, yes. 
Q. Did you ever write anything to the Administrative 

Office of the United States in reference to the Tolman re­
port~ A. I don't know whether I used the words "Tol­
man report." If you are referring to what you had in 
that subpoena, which I believe you had in that subpoena, 
I made a report to the Administrative Office in Washing­
ton, yes. 

Q. That is the same letter I have been asking for, dated 
May 1942? A. I believe so. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I renew my request in view of 
the witness's testilnony, for production of the wit­
ness's letter and report. 

The Court: Application denied. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now your lionor, I have to cease 

my examination of Mr. Duncan without having fin­
ished what I wanted to inquire about because of the 
fact that we had other witnesses who must be put on 
during the period that ren1ains before the time limi­
tation expires that your Honor has placed upon us, 
so I have no further questions for that reason. 

(4572) The Court: You appeared to be all 
through some little time ago, until some new thing 
brought you back again, but, however, I have heard 
your statement, so it is all right. 

Is there any cross-exan1ination' 

Cross examination by Mr. Gordon: 

Q. Mr. Duncan, regardless of your recollection as to 
where the C may have been on what particular card, in 
any event, did you ever discriminate against any potential 
juror by virtue of his race or color' A. Never. 

1\ir. Crockett: Your Honor, I want to object 
to that question. 

The Court: Objection overruled. 
Mr. Crockett : And I 1nove that the answer be 

stricken. It calls for a conclusion. 
The Court: It is the very thing you charge this 

witness with doing. 
Mr. Crockett: That might be-
The Court: l\fy understanding of the law is that 

whatever a person is charged with, whether it be a 
fraud or commission of some crime, at least he has 
the privilege of denving it. 

Mr. Crockett: That may be true. I have no 
de~ire to tell ~fr. Gordon how he shall question his 
( 4573) witness but there are a lot of things that 
you can allege in pleadings in one way, and another 
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thing in putting a question in the form of calling 
for a conclusion. 

The Court: I will allow the question. 
Mr. Gordon: Thank you. I presume I may cross­

examine or lead the witness. 
The Court: What did Mr. Crockett say there, 

Mr. Reporter~ Did Mr. Crockett say anything at 
the end~ 

Well, go ahead, we won't take the time now. 
Mr. Crockett: I can tell you. 
The Court: vV ell, go ahead. 

Q. Did you ever discriminate against any potential 
juror by virtue of the juror's sex, social position, economic 
status, or geographical location in the communityf A. 
Never. 

~Ir. Isserman: I object to the question on the 
ground that it is compound and calls for a conclu­
sion. 

The Court: Objection overruled. 
Mr. Gordon: He said "Never," your Honor. 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: I have just one other point. 
In connection with this card of Mrs. Helen V. 

Rosen, Exhibit 175-will you pass that exhibit to 
the Court (handing). 

( 4574) (The clerk hands to the Court.) 

Mr. Gordon: And may I have Exhibit 229, which 
is that telephone book? 

(Handed by the clerk.) 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor will notice that the 
business address given for Mrs. Rosen is 139 Center 
Street. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: Looking at Defendants' Challenge 

Exhibit 229, which is the address telephone book, 
under that address for Center Street we :find "Fed-
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eral Works Agency, Public Buildings," and "U.S. 
Government, Office of Price Administration,'' and 
so forth. 

Your Honor will recall that section 598 of the 
Judiciary Law of New York provides, under section 
6: ''No public officer or employee of the United 
States Government, or of any State, City or Muni­
cipality, or of any political subdivision," and so 
forth, ''or of any official board, authority, council, 
commission, corporation, or other agency of any of 
them, shall serve on any grand jury.'' 

The Court: What is that section~ 
Mr. Gordon: 598, your Honor. 
Will you pass that up (handing to clerk)~ 
( 4575) The Court: Of the New York Judiciary 

Law~ 
Mr. Gordon: Yes. 
The Court: Do you contend that J\frs. Rosen 

was not eligible by reason of that for grand jury 
service~ 

Mr. Gordon: Yes, sir. 
The Court : Very well. 
Mr. Gladstein: Is that a form of testimony that 

she was or was not a Government employee? 
Mr. Gordon: I was calling the Court's atten­

tion to what is shown by the defendants' exhibit. 
The Court: Yes. Is there any further cross-

examination~ 
Mr. Gordon: No, your Honor. 
The Court: Next witness. 

(Witness excused.) 

The Court: That took just five minutes, and I 
will take that into consideration in connection with 
additional tin1e for the defenRe. 

(A man enters the court room.) 

Mr. Isserman: I asked for Mr. Gove. 
A Voice: I am •Sorry. 

(The man leaves the court room.) 
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( 4576) GEoRGE GovE, called as a witness on behalf of 
the defendants on the challenge, in rebuttal, being duly 
sworn, testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. lsserman: 

Q. Mr. Gove, with what company are you connected 7 
A. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company. 

Q. And what position do you hold with that company? 
A. I am third vice-president in charge of housing. 

Q. And do your duties in connection with that position 
embrace supervision over the housing developments of 
the company in the metropolitan area of New York City? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Does it include a development known as Parkchester' 
A. Yes. 

Q. Can you give us the location of Parkchester, if you 
please P A. Well, it occupies the site of the old Ca tho lie 
Protectory in the Bronx, and roughly extends from White 
Plains to-well, I brought a map to outline it (producing) 
-from White Plains Avenue here (indicating) to Odell. 
It is irregular-Tremont Avenue on the north and the 
Drive on the south. 

Q. And does this map show the area which is Park­
chester? A. Yes (handing). 

Mr. Isserman: I would like to offer this in evi-
dence. 

(4577) Mr. Gordon: No objection. 
The Court: It may be marked. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 312 in 
evidence.) 

Q. I now show you Challenge Exhibits 132 and 133 and 
ask you if together they embrace the area known as Park­
chester, which is the development of the Metropolitan Life 
Insurance Company (handing). A. Yes, and a little more. 

Q. Can you indicate-! show you first Challenge Ex­
hibit No. 133 and ask you if any portion of that exhibtit 
is not Parkchester (handing) ? A. Well, only this-well, 
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on this inspection I would say that our property extends 
down only half way to White Plains on this block. 

Q. But there is no- A. There is a row of buildings 
here that we do not own. 

Q. There is a row of buildings fronting on \¥bite Plains 
Road in the 17th Election District? A. Between Archer 
and Wood. 

Q. Which is not part of Parkchester, is that correctT 
A. Yes. 

Q. Now I show you Challenge Exhibit 132 and ask you 
if any portion of that exhibit is not the Parkchester Devel­
opment (handing) 1 A. This might also relate to the other 
exhibit on the question of whether we own all of this 
( 4578) property in here (indicating). I think there is a 
school in here, between l\fetropolitan Avenue and East 
Tremont Avenue; the frontage on Castle IIill Avenue, I 
think does not belong to us. 

Q. And that is in the 61 Election Districts as shown 
on. that map~ A. Yes, and it would also apply to the 
other. I overlooked it when it was before me. 

Q. And your testimony is there is a school in that 
area 1 A. My best recollection is there is a Catholic school 
here. 

Q. In the row of stores you mentioned on the previous 
exhibit are there apartments above those stores, or are 
they stores merely1 A. I did not mention stores, but that 
map does include areas in which we have stores and in 
all cases there are apartments above the stores. 

Q. But I am talking about the section on the previous 
exhibit, that is Exhibit 133, which you said was not owned 
by your company. and I believe you said there was a row 
of stores there. A. No. A row of houses. Those are priv­
ate homes, largely. 

Q. About how many private homes would you sayT A.. 
I could not estimate. 

Q. One blockT A. They are very close to each other, 
yes. · 

Q. When was the development of Parkchester com­
pleted 1 ( 4579) A. In De0ember 1941. 

Q. And is it fully occupied now? A. Yes. 
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Q. And when was that full occupation first achieved f 
A. At that tin1e, in December 1941. 

Q. And it has been fully occupied ever since? A. Yes. 
Q. How many families reside in Parkchester? A. 

Slightly more than 12,000; about 12,242. 

The Court: Families 1 
The Witness : Families. 

Q. About how many people does that embrace, if you 
know f A. We estimate between, somewhere between 35 
to 40 thousand persons. 

Q. In connection with the renting of apartments to 
persons in that Parkchester Development your company 
causes application blanks to be filled out by such persons Y 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you gather other data about the occupations 
of persons who were given place in Parkchesterf A. That 
data is usually given on the application form. 

Q. From those applications you have gathered statisti­
cal data which indicates the type of persons who live in 
Parkchester by occupations 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Could you give us a brief summary of thatf 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to as not relative 
( 4580) to the challenge. The census of the Metro­
politan Life Insurance Company's estimate of occu­
pations would hardly :fit into the two categories we 
have; that is the census on the one hand and Wilker­
son's classifications on the other. 

The Court: I will take it for what it may be 
'vorth. You may proceed. · 

A. With reference to the principal wage earner,s in those 
12,242 families-

Q. By that term you mean the heads of families T A. 
Heads of families,-we have a breakdown here represent­
ing the major industrial groups and other types of em­
ployment. We have arbitrarily broken them down into 
white collar, manual, executive-

The Court: What is that second1 
The Witness: Manual. 
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The Court: White collar first 1 
The Witness: And manual workers next. 
The Court : What next 1 
The Witness: Professional workers, service 

workers, executive people, and retired and pen­
sioners. 

The Court: Executives and e1nployes are put 
together? 

The Witness: No. Executive is one classifica­
tion and then those who are retired or live on pen­
sion is another. ( 4581) Those are arbitrary classi­
fications. For instance-

Q. Would you give the classification and the number 
of people-

The Court: He said they are arbitrary classifi­
cations. I want to understand what that means. 

The Witness: I mean by that that we include 
among white collar workers those who are office 
clerks, salesmen, collectors, merchandising clerks in 
stores, cashiers and telephone and telegraph opera­
tors. 

Q. You do not include manual workers or laborers 1 
A. No. l\1:anual workers are held to include craftsmen or 
apprentices, everything from boilermaker to watchmakers 
and skilled operators and all those engaged in production. 

Q. What do you include in the executive category~ A. 
Those are heads of relatively small companies, storekeep­
ers and operator,s of their own properties. 

Q. Do you have any classification of Government em­
ployes? A. In this classification we cover those among 
service workers and that would include policmnen, firemen, 
postal cariers, guards, attendants, elevator operators, por­
ters, barbers, cooks, butchers, grocers, counter clerks and 
people of that character in the service employments. 

Q. In the category of white collar workers, as you 
have it, how many persons do you have? 

( 4582) The Court: Just read them all so we 
will get them without taking too much time. 
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A. These are not recent figures but I think they would still 
hold because we have not had a great turnover in the de­
velopment after the last time we worked this out: 

White collar workers, 4245; Manual workers, 2775; 
Service workers, 2914; Self-employed, 717; Profes­
sional workers, 624; People retired and living on 
pension, 415 ; Executives, 330. 

The Court: Wait a minute. That self-employed 
is what I was groping for. 

The Witness: Yes. I failed on that. 
The Court : 717 self -employed and 330 execu­

tives; that is, the heads of relatively small com­
panies? 

The \Vitness: Yes. That altogether represents 
12,020 and there were some 200 we did not get. 

Q. 1\fr. Gove, how do you use the expression "self­
employed"? Does that cover the heads of small businesses 1 
A. Yes, and partners of small retail stores, manufacturers, 
accounting firms and gasoline service stations and small 
enterprises. 

(4583) Q. What about your term "executives" as 
you used it? A. Well, those are, as I read it, the heads of 
relatively small companies and junior executives with 
larger companies. 

Q. Now have you some figures to indicate the number 
of Government workers that are included in the service 
group~ A. Those have not been separately listed. They 
are among the service workers. 

Q. They are not indexed as to the number of Govern­
ment employes? A. No. 

Q. Have you any information as to the number of police 
employes~ A. No, I have not. 

Q. Now do any Negroes reside in the Parkchester De­
velopment? A. No. 

Q. Isn't it a matter of policy no Negroes are accepted 
for residence in that development 1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Do you exclude Negroes there f 
The Witness: It has been our policy not to ac­

cept Negroes in that development. 
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Q. Mr. Gove, there are other developments in 1\ianhat­
tan and in the Bronx projected by your company in which 
Negroes do reside, are there not~ A. None projected, but 
we have actually in operation-

Q. I mean not projection, but in operation~ A. Oh yes. 
Q .. Where are those which are in operation? ( 4584) 

A. Riverton Development; known as Riverton Development. 
Q. In what area is Riverton located 1 A. That is in the 

northern part of the Borough of Manhattan; in the Harlem 
area. 

Q. Is it along Madison A venue? A. Yes, between 
Madison Avenue and the river and from 135th Street to 
138th Street. 

Q. Do you know how many families live in that develop­
ment? A. 1250. 

Q. You do not know how many persons live in that de­
velopment1 A. I would estimate about three times that; 
today about 3750. 

Q. And when was that development completed~ A. Last 
year. 

Q. About what time? A. Well, I should say about 
August. 

Q. August 1948? A. 1948, yes. 
Q. When did families commence to live there 1 A. Well, 

they had begun living in there before that; in other words 
as the building was ~ompleted it was fully occupied and 
the last building was completed in about August. 

Q. Is there any other development in Manhattan or the 
Bronx in operation by your company in which Negroes re­
side! A. No. 

(4585) Q. No Negroes reside in the Stuyvesant Town 
area 1 A. No. 

Q. And it is a matter of policy they are not accepted 
in there 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Is the same thing true of Peter Cooper Village1 A. 
The same is true of Peter Cooper Village. 

Mr. Isserman: You may cross examine. 
Mr. Gordon: No questions. 

(Witness excused.) 
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EuGENE CoNNOLLY, called as a witness on behalf of the 
defendants on the challenge, in rebuttal, being duly sworn, 
testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. Isserman: 

Q. Mr. Connolly, where are you employed¥ A. Stand­
ard and Poor's Corporation. 

Q. What do you do for that corporation~ A. I am the 
editor of Poor's Register of Directors. 

Q. I show you Challenge Exhibit 22 for identification, 
and ask you if that is the 1949 edition of the Directory of 
which you are the editor~ A. It is. 

Q. And has the cornpilation which you have in front 
of you been put out in a number of years in substantially 
this form? A. Well, in the last several years it has been in 
this form. Primarily it was son1ewhat different-20 years 
ago. 

( 4586) Q. But the last ten years has it been put out 
in this form¥ A. About that way. 

Q. Is it brought up to date from year to year~ A. This, 
yes. 

Q. Some additions are made each yearf A. Yes. 
Q. And many of the entries of previous years are re­

tained in the current edition~ A. That is correct. 
Q. Now that directory is entitled "Register' of Direc­

tors and Executives.'' Just what do you mean by that f 
A. Well, the companies that are in there have officers and 
directors, and the people, in the majority, who are in the 
book are the officers and directors of the companies that are 
listed in the book. 

Q. How do you obtain the inforn1ation for listing in the 
directory? A. Well, actually we check state and city direc­
tories and pick off companies employed in the main in in­
dustrial activities with 75 or thereabouts employes and 
.send questionnaires to them. When those questionnaires 
are returned they are processed and the companies in­
cluded in the book. The following year we aheck the names 
?f the officers and directors of those corporations to see 
1f they are now in the book and if they are not individual 
questionnaires are sent to them. If those questionnaires 
are returned-
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Q. Do you have any regard to the financial capitaliza­
tion ( 4587) of the con1pany when you put it in the di­
rectory? A. No, we do not check it in any way. It could 
be a company of fifty or a thousand or a million for all we 
know. We make no effort to determine it. 

Q. Is it the fact a company that has 75 employes is the 
standard which you use 1 A. That is the present standard. 

Q. And those less than that number are not included T 
A. There are a few in that with fewer than 75. 

Q. Is that the exception or the rule? A. We never made 
a rule. I don't know. I would say probably an exception. 

Q. And your general standard is 75 employes~ A. That 
is right. It changes from year to year. Sometimes we 
send to companies with 100 or more and sometimes 75. 

Q. What determines the change.s you make 1 A. Well, 
the size of the book. We cannot get much more in and we 
try to get representative companies of the various indus­
trials, and if we do not have four or five hundred of the 
representative companies in a particular industry we send 
to those companies. 

Mr. Isserman: I would like to offer the book in 
evidence at this time. 

Mr. Gordon: The same objection as originally 
stated. There was no showing it was used by the 
clerk. 

( 4588) The Court: Yes, I will sustain the ob­
jection. 

Mr. Isserman: I take it the Court is not hearing 
any grounds or argument~ 

The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Isserman: No further questions. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Are you familiar with the fact there is a foreword or 
introduction in this 1949' edition~ A. Yes. 

Q. Have you during the last 10 years printed a similar 
introduction or foreword of similar content~ A. It is there 
each year. 

Q. The san1e one? A. It is changed each year; changes 
of figures. 
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Q. Any other changes~ A. If there is an addition or 
change we correct the .change; a paragraph, for example, 
we included a couple of years ago this pink section and we 
had to explain it and subsequently we included the green 
so we include a paragraph to say what it is. 

Q. Other than that you have printed this same introduc­
tion year after year for the last ten years~ A. I cannot 
say the last ten years. I have not been the editor for the 
last 10 years. 

Q. For how long have you been o? A. Four years. I 
took over in April, 1945. 

Q. All right. We have had the testin10ny about the 
(4589) use of the Poor's in 1947. I will ask you, there­
fore, if your testimony concerning the introduction, that 
paragraph in Challenge Exhibit 22, would be applicable to 
that portion for the years 194 7 or 1946? 

The Court: What testin1ony did he give about 
that foreword? I don't remember hearing that. 
Maybe it got past me. 

l\1r. Gladstein: I understood the witness to say 
except for correction of nurnbers that appear in the 
introduction it was the same. 

The Court: It was the same, yes. 
The \Vitness: That is correct. If we make­
The Court: That is all right. 
1fr. Gladstein: Now I make an offer on my 

own behalf that this be received. You will recall­
The Court: Do you consider what Mr. Connolly 

testified to as verifying each statement of fact in 
the book? 

:Jir. Gladstein: I an1 offering it as admissible be­
cause the introduction, which he says was substan­
tially the .same in the 1946, 194 7 and 1948 issues 
covers the issue or the copy which :.\1r. McKenzie 
used in 1947. 

~v1 r. Gordon: I don't think the book is relevant 
to the challenge, your Honor. Mr. l\1cKenzie said 
he sent smnebody up to the library-and now I have 
got confused ( 4590) about this once before be­
cause I did not know how many directories of direc-
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tors there were and I don't want to make a mis­
statement-

The Court: I will hear you, Mr. Gladstein, and 
I am hopeful. I did not understand just what the 
book purports to prove that is relevant here so if 
you have a brief argument I willli~ten to you. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, sir. I will 1nake it as brief 
as possible. Mr. :McKenzie testified that in 1947 
Poor's Register of Directors was used as a source 
from which to obtain the name13 of jurors. Mr. Con­
nolly has testified that the introduction contained 
in Challenge Exhibit 22 for identification is sub­
stantially the same, except for changes in figures as 
that introduction which appears in the 1946, 1947 
and 1948 editions of Poor's Register of Directon3, 
because the introduction in Challenge Exhibit 22 
states, in part, that Poor's Register of Directors 
and Executives covering- the entire United States is 
the only national directory of important people pub­
lished in this country. It goes on to tstate additional 
facts-

The Court: Oh well, then I will sustain the o b­
jection. 

Mr. Gladstein: I thought when you heard the 
facts you would, Judge. 

( 4591) Mr. Gordon: I move to strike that out. 
The Court: Yes. That is another one of those 

remarks, Mr. Gladstein, that is exceedingly im­
pertinent and !Sarcastic and I don't think you should 
do it. You just keep it up. Evidently you have some 
purpose in mind, but I direct you not to do it again. 

~fr. Gladstein: I have no further questions. 
The Court: Thank you, Mr. Connolly. 

(Witness excused.) 
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EuGENE J. CANTIN) called as a witness on behalf of the 
defendants on the challenge, in rebuttal, being duly sworn, 
testified ms follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. I ssennan: 

Q. Mr. Cantin, are you connected with the Federal 
Grand .Jury Association~ A. Yes. 

Q. In what capacity, Mr. Cantin 1 A. I am honorary 
president and also a member of the executive committee. 

Q. And how long have you been a member of the execu­
tive committee? A. Ever since they started. I was one 
of the organizers. 

Q. Did you hold any other office in the Association 1 A. 
I was secretary; the first secretary, for eight years. 

Q. Can you tell us was that the first eight years of 
the organization's existence~ A. Yes. 

Q. And when did it start, Mr. Cantin~ A. About, 
( 4592) I think, something like 21 or 22 years ago. 

Q. That was 1929, wasn't it~ A. Somewhere in there. 
I don't remember the exact date. 

Q. Now were you the secretary of the ASI.3ocia tion when 
Mrs. St. Clair became the assistant to the secretary~ A. 
Yes. 

Q. Did you hire Mrs. St. Clair~ A. Yes. 
Q. Did she work full time for the Association when you 

first hired her~ A. I think she wrus my secretary-when 
we started the Association, in order to keep the expenses 
down, they used-I gave them the use of my office and Mrs. 
St. Clair became my secretary and she did the work for 
the Association too. I don't think at first 1she was paid 
anything by the .A .. ssociation. I think I just gave her ser­
vices. 

Q. What business were you in at that time? A. I was 
in-I was distributor for the Denby motor trucks. 

Q. W rus it in that capacity that Mrs. St. Clair worked 
for you? A. Yes. 

Q. At what time did she start working for the Associa­
tion full time~ A. When we organized there was clerical 
work to be done and I had her do it. 
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Q. And was that shortly after she started to work for 
you? A. Yes. I think it was within a year or son1ething 
(4593) like that. That is 21 years ago and I can't remem­
ber exactly. 

Q. And what wrus the nature of the clerical work which 
you had Mrs. St. Clair do, Mr. Cantin? A. I was distributor 
for motor trucks and she wrote letters for me and did the 
regular clerical work. 

Q. Yes, but I am sorry, I did not make my question 
clear. I wanted to know what clerical work she did for 
you as secretary of the Grand Jury Association. A. Oh, 
well, she kept the minuteJ.S and records and things for the 
Association. 

Q. And what did those records include 1 A. Minutes 
of any records of meetings we had and any letters that 
we sent out. 

Q. Did they include records of grand jurors in this 
court~ A. I don't think so ; I don't think so. No. 

Q. Well, at the time ~She started to work for the Grand 
Jury Association didn't you have in the office of the As­
sociation a duplicate list of all the persons eligible for grand 
jury service in the Southern District of New York? A. 
When the Association was started we got that list. That 
is how we called the fir!St 1neeting, the first mass meeting. 
We sent notices to all the people that were on the grand 
jury panel. 

Q. By ''panel'' do you n1ean all the persons- ( 4594-5) 
A. All those that were listed for grand jury service. 

Q. Not those on the particular panel for the month~ A. 
No. I should say listed for service. 

Q. And you got the history cards of tho!Se persons listed 
for grand jury service? A. No. 

Q. When did you get those~ A. The history cards 1 
Q. Yes. A. I don't think--oh, I don't think we ever 

had those. 
Q. Wasn't there a tin1e when you got a complete set 

from the jury clerk or the clerk of this court 1 A. Of the 
history~ 

Q. Of the history cards of each grand juror. A. I don't 
recall anything of that sort. Got the history cards 1 What 
do you 1nean by "history cards"? 
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Mr. Isserman: May I have :EJxhibit 175, please~ 

(Handed to ~{r. lsserman.) 

( 4596) Q. I show you a card which is Exhibit 175 and 
ask you if your office did not have in it a file of these cards, 
similar to those, llisting the nmnes of grand jurors in the 
Southern District? A. Yes. Vv .... e got those at some time. 
I don't know exactly \vhen. 

Q. And where did you get then1 from? A. We got them 
from the jury cleric 

Q. And during the tin1e that you were secretary was 
there a tin1e when the association had at its expense sent 
a clerk to work in the office of the clerk of this court in 
connection with the selection of grand jurons ~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objection, and Mr. Isserman knows 
that-

The Court : The time~ 
Mr. Gordon : Yes, he knows. 
Mr. Isserman: There is no evidence when that 

practice continued and I would like to put on the 
record the expense of the practice, how long it con­
tinued and its effect upon the present system. 

The Court: Subsequent to 1940 did you, or your 
AJ,ssociation, subsequent to 1940, have some employee 
or assistant working down in the clerk's office! 

The Witness: No. 

Q. Did you have any such assistant working in the 
( 4597) clerk's office prior to 1940? 

The Court: Do you object, ~fr. Gordon~ I arn 
not going to take proof of what happened back in 
1931. I remember only a fevv days ago, Mr. Isser­
man, you had a paper here that was l3Upposed, as I 
listened to it, to refer to a much later date, and it 
was suddenly discovered that what was in there 
referred to 1931, which I thought was not a very 
candid way of presenting the matter. 
. ~1r. Isserman: If the Court please, I must ob­
Ject to your Honor's remark It was not suddenly 
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dllicovered. It was in a publication dated 1937 and 
it referred to 1931. There are later publications of 
the Association stating the practice has continued 
and I am entitled to find out when it ceased. 

Mr. Gordon: I move to strike it out as not being 
based on evidence and there is no competent publica­
tion that was proved. 

Mr. Isserman: I state that as an offer of proof. 
The Court: This new business of offer of proof 

is being developed beyond bounds that I ever under­
stood, but however that may be I am going to sus­
tain the objection or make objection myself. I am 
not going to have you go into the time prior to 
1940. As I understand it, your challenge stated it 
was based on 1940 and subsequent years and so I 
comsider irrelevant what this association ( 4598) 
did back in 1931 or other years prior to 1940. 

l\1r. Isserman: If the Court please, there is con­
siderable evidence in the record on a system put into 
effect some time before 1940, three or four years 
before. The evidence ·has been admitted in respect to 
it. 

The Court: All right. Prior to 1937, or rather, 
at any time in 1937 or subsequent years did you 
have an employee or aJ.Ssistant of the Association 
working down in the clerk's office~ 

The Witness : Since 1937 ~ 
The Court: That is right. 
The Witness: No. 
Mr. Isserman: Now, if the Court please, I would 

like to ask whether between 1931 and 1937 did vou 
have an assistant working in the clerk's office~ · 

~1r. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Now did ].,frJ.S. St. Clair work under your instruc­
tions~ A. Yes. 

Q. And did you give her any instructions about getting 
up lists of names to be sub1nitted to the jury clerk of this 
court ? A. Yes. 
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:.Mr. Gordon: Objection. The basis of the ob­
jection is that the interior arrangements of the 
Federal Grand Jury AsJSociation did not affect the 
workings ( 4599) of the court. 

The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
l\1r. Isserrnan: If the Court please, I want to 

show that the actual work done by Mrs. St. Clair 
under the auspices of the Association was the work 
referred to in the Tolman report and was done in 
cooperation with the clerk of thiJS court and the jury 
clerk. 

The Court: She has testified to what she did. 
You have every name that was put on any of these 
lists now in evidence and I hold it to be immaterial 
whether this witness or son1e other witness told her 
to do it or did not tell her to do it. She has testified 
to what 1she did and the question before me is what 
the clerk and the other persons entrusted with the 
responsibility of administering this jury service did 
with those lists, and I sustain the objection. 

1\fr. lsserman: If the Court pleruse, we desire 
to show at whose direction or under what instruc­
tions those lists were gotten up. 

The Court: Ask the next question. 

Q. Now, 1\fr. Cantin, on occasion you submitted names 
to Mrs. St. Clair to !Submit to the jury clerk, did you notf 
A. Will you repeat that question, please. I did not quite 
get it. 

( 4600) The Court : He is asking whether there 
were times when you gave names to Mrs. St. Clair 
to submit to the jury clerk-you yourself gave 
names. 

The "\Vi tness : No. 

Q. Did you serve on the executive committee of the 
ASJSocia tion 1 A. Yes. 

Q. For how many years~ A. IPor how many years 1 
Q. Yes. A. ~,rom the beginning to the present date; 

21 or 22 years. 
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Q. And you have been on the executive committee con­
tinuously 1 A. Yes. 

Q. And didn't you at meeting's of the executive com­
mittee of your Association discuss the submlission of names 
to the jury clerk of this court and to the clerk of this court 
for consideration as grand jurors and petit jurors 1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Haven't you on occasion, lVIr. Cantin, stated that the 
work of your .&ssociation was to improve the caliber of 
the grand and petit jurors of this court~ 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, not only is what he 
said son1ebody else's hearsay, but Mr. Isserman 
is now cross-examining another one of his witne&3es. 

The Court: Do you object~ 
Mr. Gordon: I do. 
( 4601) The Court: I sustain the objection. 

Q. Isn't it a fact, Mr. Cantin, that you, as secretary 
of the grand jury association have from time to time taken 
steps with the clerk of this court, and the jury clerk, to 
change the type of perBons serving on the grand juries of 
this court~ 

The Court: Why don't you ask a specific ques­
tion: Did he do this or that~ "Taking steps" n1ight 
mean anything. 

Mr. Isserman: I want the general question first 
if I rnay ask it. 

Mr. Gordon: I object to it. 
The Court: Sustained. There is something you 

claim he did per~onally that had to do with the jury 
systmn. Ask him the question; not what he told 
somebody or wrote to somebody or what he thought. 

Mr. Isserman: I did not ask what he thought. 
I asked what he, as a member of the committee-! 
will stop the argument. 
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Q. 1-Ir. Cantin, as a member of the executive committee 
have you taken any steps, that iJS as a member of the 
executive con1mittee of the Grand Jury Association, in 
the time you -were a 1nember of that Association, taken any 
steps in connection with the jury clerk and the clerk of 
this court with reference to the selection of grand ( 4602) 
and petit jurors in this court~ 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Have you taken any steps in connection-

The Court: No, Mr. :fuserman. When you say 
''taken any steps'' you know, I think, quite well 
that he might consider some conversation, some com­
munication between him and the other directors, 
or something of that kind as taking a step. I have 
ruled that out. But anything he may have done 
directly with any of the clerks or others in charge 
of the jury systen1 here I will allow, but I won't 
allow what he said to ~Somebody, what he wrote to 
somebody, what he thought, or -what resolutions 
the executive committee passed, or anything of that 
kind. Now that ought to be very explicit. 

Mr. Isserman: I object to your Honor not al­
lowing me to ask the general question as preliminary 
to further questions. 

The Court: Don't put characterizations in like 
that; "taking stepJS." That might mean anything, 
and if I were a witness I might think it had reference 
to a letter I wrote to somebody not connected with 
the jury system. 

Mr. Isserman: ~fy question was limited to the 
jury system. 

Q. Now, as secretary of the as:sociation in all the 
( 4603) years that you were secretary, and as a member 
of the executive committee did you do anything, Mr. Can­
tin, yourself, with respect to submitting names to the jury 
clerk of this court for inclusion on the grand jury panel T 
A. Yes. 
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Q. And what did you do~ A. I went to the head­
quarters of the Federation of Labor and spoke to, I think 
it wrus to Matthew Vl oll, or one of the people in authority 
there, and said that we would like to have them furnish 
us with some names of their people in order to submit to 
the clerk, or the jury clerk here, for service on the petit 
juries. 

Mr. lsserman: May 1 have the question re­
peated, so I can get a responsive answer~ 

Mr. Gordon: I think that i!S responsive. 
Mr. Isserman: It was what he did with the jury 

clerk or clerk of this court. 
The Court: It seemed to me it was just the 

kind of thing you were asking for. 
Mr. Isserman: I would like to have the question 

repeated. 
The Court: You may have it repeated. 

(Question read.) 

The Witness: I answered that. 
The Court: It !Says ''grand jury." Did you go 

to ( 4604) Mr. \V oll to get anybody for the grand 
juryf 

The Witness: ':rhe understanding was that these 
men would be first put on the petit jury and then 
after they had had a little jury experience would 
be advanced to the grand jury. 

The Court: You mean that was your expectation 
if they qualified~ 

The Witness: Yes. Indirectly they would go 
on to the grand jury if they were examined and 
had the proper age and so forth. That is our expecta­
tion. 

Q. And didn't you have the understanding with the 
clerk, and the jury clerk of this court they would first serve 
on the petit jury panel and then be advanced 1 

The Court: Did he talk any further about itT 
Is that what you mean 1 
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Mr. Isserman: I think the witness understands. 
The Court: All right, he may know. 

A. No. We had no internal understanding. I understood 
that was the practice and that is what they preferred to 
do and it was not fair to people who had been on the grand 
ju;y panel for a long time without serving to have new 
people put in there and perhapJ.S s·erve long before they 
were called. 

Q. When did you have this conversation with Matthew 
WolU A. I am not sure whether it was Matthew Woll 
( 4605) or the president, but it was one of the two. That 
was, I should say, 12 or 13 years ago. 

Q. Did you have any conversation with any Labor of­
ficial since that time or suggest they submit nam(\g to you 
for submission to the jury clerk of this court? A. No. 
The answer I got was that their people wanted nothing to 
do with juries. 

Q. And after that conversation you did not try to get 
any more laboring people, did you? A. No. 

Q. Or did you? A. No. I never tried more, no. 
Q. Do you know approximately how many thousand 

names were submitted by your AJ.Ssociation to the jury 
clerk and clerk of this court in the period in which you 
were on the executive committee of the Association~ A. 
Would you please read that 7 

(Question read.) 

A. Not exactly, but there were several thousand at least. 
Q. Would you say there wer·e as many as 16,000' A. I 

would not. I don't think there were that many. 
Q. And that was a matter that Mrs. St. Clair knew more 

about, wrusn't it A. Yes. 
. Q. In the several thousand that you recall do you know 
If at any time you submitted the names of any manual 
workers to the jury clerk of this court~ A. You mean me 
personally 1 

Q. Your Association. .A. Why, I don't know whether 
(4606) they were manual workers or not. We asked some 
companies to submit names of their employeeB and they 
may have been truck drivers or stenographers but I do 
not know about that. 
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Q. "\\-r ell, you also asked con1panies to submit the narnes 
of their executives, did you not~ A. No. 

Q. You never asked any cornpany to submit the names 
of executive or departn1ent headH for submission to the 
grand ;jury~ A. No. \Ve asked thmn to submit employees. 

·Q. You made no reference to department heads or ex­
ecutives~ A. No. 

Q. Do you know how many such lists received from 
companies were sent in to the Grand Jury Association 
with lists of employees 1 A. \¥ ould you read that? 

The Court : He msked whether he knows. 
Do you know anything about that1 

A. How many~ 

Mr. Gordon: He said do vou know how manv 
lists from companies were s~nt in to the Grand 
Jury Association. 

Mr. Isserman: If I said that I withdraw it. 
Mr. Gordon: That is what you said. 
The Court: Reframe the question. 

Q. Do you know how many lists of employee1s of cor­
porations received by the Grand tTury Association were 
sent in to the clerk of this court or the jury clerk ( 4607) 
of this court? A. There were some. I don't know how 
many. 

Q. And did your executive committee discuss the In­
clusion of such names to be 1sent to the jury clerk 1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did your association have panel committees? A. 
Yes. 

Q. Who was the last chairrnan of your panel committee? 
A. I just could tell you. I have been laid up for a year 
and I don't know just what or who is on the panel com­
mittee now. 

Q. Do you remember who was on the panel committee 
in 19461 A. No. I could not say exactly. 
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Q. Do you know l\fr. George vV. Ada:ms? A. Yes. I 
think he ·was about that tirne. 

Q. He \vas chairman of the panel committee about 
1946 ~ A. He was chairman at one time. I think that is 
the approximate tin1e; son1ewhere in there. 

Q. And what is the function of the panel committee? 

l\fr. Gordon: I object. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Does the panel co1n1nittee have any function in con­
nection with the submission of names for grand and ( 4608) 
petit jurors to this court? 

Mr. Gordon: I object. 
The Court: Sustained. 
When you had that converJSation with Mr. Woll 

about workers he said his people did not want to 
have anything to do with juries, did he, explain why? 

The Witness: No. 

Q. Did you know Mr. Chandler of the Office of the 
United States Courts, of the Administrative Office of the 
United States Courts1 A. I think I met him once or 
twice. 

Q. Were you in correspondence with Mr. Chandler about 
the work of your Association in connection with the grand 
jury sy.stem of this court? A. I don't think I had any 
correspondence. 

Q. But there was such correspondence, wasn't there T 
A. There was some correspondence, I believe. 

Q. And in the period that you were secretary did you 
have any conferences with the clerk of this court in refer­
ence to the submission of name:s for grand jury service 1 

Mr. Gordon: That must have been 1937 or 
earlier. He said he was secretary the first eight 
years. 

The Court : Yes. Kindly restrict yourself. 
I have permitted the session to go an additional 

( 4609) 15 minutes to make up for that five minutes 
of cross-examination and the few minutes that were 
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(4610) 

taken up with your conference ·with nw and Mr. l\fc­
Gohey before court opened and I gave you a little 
extra for such, and we will now adjourn. 

Mr. Gladstein: Before you announce that I was 
going to ask your Honor to run a little longer ses­
sion because we have a large number of witnesses 
we would like to put on, and because of the ruling 
that the Court ha!s made I think the least that can 
be done is extend the ordinary hours and eYen have 
night sessions, which we will be willing to do for 
the accommodation of the witnesses as well as in 
defense of the rights of my clients. I therefore ask 
the Court to make 1such an extension of time from 
now until 5.30 or six o'clock and then after dinner 
to have a further session. 

The Court: The application is denied. 

(At 4.45 p. m. an adjournment was taken until 
March 1, 1949, at 10.30 a. m.) 

New York, March 1, 1949; 
10.30 a.m. 

(4612) DoROTHY H. RoDMAN, called as a witness on be­
half of the defendants on the challenge in rebuttal, being 
duly sworn, testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. Glr1dstein : 

Q. Where do you reside, Mrs. Rodman~ A. At 72-36 
112th Street, Forest Hills. 

Q. You have participated in the preparation of certain 
exhibits that were introduced in this case; that is so, is it 
not' A. Yes, that is right. 

( 4613) Q. Have you had academic training in the 
field of statistical matters~ A. Yes, I have. I have a B.A. 
degree from Brooklyn College where I majored in Eco­
nomics and had several statistics courses and undergradu­
ate work, and I have a Master's degree from Columbia 
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University where I majored in Economi~s again and did 
graduate studies. 

Mr. McGohey: I beg your pardon, Mrs. Rodman, 
would you be kind enough to keep your voice higher! 
I have difficulty in hearing you. 

The Witness: Yes, I will try to. 
Mr. McGohey. Thank you. May we have the 

part read about the Master's degree~ 

(Record read.) 

The Court: Was that Fordhamf 
The Witness: No, Columbia University. 

Q . .And have you had occasion, Mrs. Rodman, to be 
employed in the field of analysis of economic materials, 
data and statistics? A. Yes, I have. 

( 4614) Q. Will you state briefly and generally 
what your experience has been in the handling of statistical 
matters~ A. Well, one of the first jobs I held certainly 
after graduation there I was with the War Department 
when I was a statistical clerk, and there in the course of 
that job, it was more or less routine, but it was a basic 
use of statisti~al material and technical operations with 
statistics. I think that the next important job that I held 
was after I got my master's degree when I worked with the 
Department of Commerce in the National Economic Unit. 

Q. Did you have occasion in connection with that em­
ployment to deal with census tables and census statistical 
data? A. Yes, very frequently. As a matter of fact the 
unit which consisted of four people was engaged in sur­
veys of various types, all of which dealt with the problem 
of the national economy and of course census data and De­
partment of Commerce publications, that were published 
right in the next office, we always used all of those ma­
terials in preparing our reports, in addition to data from 
other Government agencies and private ,sources. 

Q. In the cour,se of your experience how long have you 
had occasion to work with the academic field of the em­
ployment of statistical matters and data, particularly cen­
sus tables and data? A. I would .say it is about eight 
( 4615) years, if you go back to academic training days. 
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The Court: Does that mean that eight years ago 
you were a freshman at Brooklyn College~ 

The Witness: No, ten years-eleven years. 

Q. Now you were engaged, were you, shortly after the 
middle of November, 1948, to participate in the prepara­
tion of certain exhibits consisting of maps, tabulations, 
charts, diagrams and other exhibits that have been used in 
this case? A. That is correct. 

Q. And with whom did you work in the preparation of 
those exhibits~ A. Well, I worked with Mr. Wilkerson in 
preparation of all those exhibits that he has supervised. 

Q. Under his supervision~ A. That is right. 
Q. Did you personally prepare those exhibits' A. I 

personally prepared just about-well, very close to all of 
the exhibits that have been submitted. Mr. Wilkerson him­
self did a few personally, maybe five or six that I did 
not see at all, but all the rest I did under his supervision. 

Q. And you are familiar with the maps received? A. 
Yes, I prepared those personally. 

Q. Did you prepare the tabulations that have been re­
ceived~ A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And those marked for identification and not ( 4616) 
received? A. That is right. 

Q. You are familiar with the charts and tables f A. 
That is correct. 

Q. And of course you worked with the attorneys in con­
nection with those exhibits1 A. Yes, I did, right through 
the whole job. 

The Court: This is the Mrs. Rodman that was 
referred to by Mr. Wilkerson~ 

Mr. Gladstein: It is, your Honor, yes. 

Q. Now a certain sample study was made of the panels 
of petit jurors in this court and 28 were used as a basic 
sample~ That is correct~ A. Yes right through 1940 to 
1949. ' 

Q. Was there a reason for picking the 28 in the manner 
that was done~ A. Well, I think that there was a reason 
in taking them that way. 
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Q. What vvas the reason~ A. They were picked not in 
any arbitrary fashion without any special selection in­
volved-

Mr. lVIcGohey: May I ask if this witness picked 
the panels or some body else f 

The Witness: I picked those in consultation with 
~fr. Wilkerson and the defense attorneys. 

Q. Now will you continue your answer 1 

The Court : You say they. were not picked arbi-
trarily~ 

( 4617) The Witness : There was a scheme. 
The Court: What was the scheme~ 
The Witness: The scheme was to pick them by 

consecutive months as they ran down through the 
years so as to give proportionate representation to 
all the seasonal factors which might enter into the 
panel and also to overweight the more recent panels 
so that there were two each, running consecutively 
monthly whether from 1940 through 1947 I guess is 
the date and then in 1948 there was each month up 
until November. 

Q. The limitation of time had something to do with the 
determination as to the number of panels, is that trueT 
A. To a certain extent, although we felt this was a com­
pletely panel sample in every way and was representa­
tive of the total population, and we had reason to believe 
so. 

Q. In the field of studies of economic materials and data 
would that be regarded as a proper method of sampling. 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Have you made a check to ascertain the extent to 
which these samples are representative of all the panels? 
A. Yes, I have made .several checks to determine that. 

Q. What is the first one ~ 
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Mr. McGohey: May I ask what is meant by the 
construction ·"all the panels" and what is included 
in ( 4618) ''representative panels'' 1 

A.. All of the panels, as I understand it and I have been 
answering with reference to the basic 28 panels in the 
sample that was used for the occupational and geographic 
analyses running from February 1940 through January 17, 
1949. 

The Court: So when you say you checked all the 
panels, you do not mean all the panels in the ten 
year panels but you mean all those 28 ~ 

The Witness: That is right. There were others 
checked which were not included. 

The Court: When you are talking about the 
checking, you say you checked all of the 28 panels? 

The Witness: That is right. 

Q. What was the checkT You may describe it briefly. 
A. If I understand your question you asked whether I 
checked to see whether this was a valid sample 1 

Q. Yes. 

Mr. McGohey: Just what I am concerned with; 
what is a valid sample to begin with 1 

Mr. Gladstein: We under such a time limita­
tion-

The Court : Yes, but the testimony must be in­
telligible and I thought when she ,said she made these 
checks of all the panels she meant checked all the 
panels over the whole period and now she says only 
the ( 4619) 28. 

Mr. Gladstein: She says she has made a check 
to ascertain the extent to which the 28 would be 
representative. By now she has not had a chance to 
say she has made a comparison between the 28 and 
others. 

Q. Is that correct? A. That is right. 

The Court: And she will describe what these 
certain others are. I think that is Mr. McGohey's 
point. 
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Mr. McGahey: It is, yes, your Honor. 
The Witness : May I go on? 

Q. Yes, briefly state what that check consisted of. A. 
One of the checks-let me state first that the 28 revealed 
to all of us, Mr. Wilkerson and defense counsel, an internal 
consistency; that is, there was a definite pattern; in or­
der to establish whether this pattern would hold good for 
others of the 218 panels which were drawn between 1940 
and 1949-

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. 
Mr. Gladstein: Let the witness finish. 
The Court: Yes, I can evaluate the matter as I 

listen. 
Mr. Gordon: She has testified to conclusions, the 

conclusion that there were 218. 
The Court : She says she and counsel were all 

satisfied. Of course that means nothing to me. 
( 4619-A) Whether they were satisfied is not ma­
terial and I can simply take that into consideration 
as I decide the matter, so I think we may not worry 
about continual interjection by this witness as by 
Mr. Wilkerson as to how perfect the matter was and 
how they were satisfied and all that, because their 
satisfaction I don't think is the point, but however 
that may be let her g·o ahead and describe what the 
checking was that .she did. 

(4620) Q. Will you continue? A. May I? 
Q. Yes. A. I would like to continue but I would like 

also to say that it wasn't a subjective satisfaction that I 
took in it. 

Q. Well, let us not get into that, Mrs. Rodman. A. I 
have :figures which show the internal consistency that I was 
talking about, and there is a range which is so narrow-

The Court : Well, I think if you will just an­
swer questions you will do better than being so 
eager to explain. All right, now go ahead, Mr. Glad­
stein, and have her describe the checking that she 
did. 
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Q. Will you do that please, and as briefly as possible, 
Mrs. Rodman, because the Court has placed a serious time 
limitation upon us and we cannot finish with an adequate 
presentation. A. The first check that I did on it was to 
compare the average percentages in the occupational dis­
tribution of three additional panels. 

Q. Which three, please~ A. The most recent three: 
the second one of January 17th, the February 1st panel 
and the February 14th panel. 

Q. Of this year~ A. Of this year. 
Q. And you made an occupational breakdown of those 

three and made comparison of that breakdown with the 
( 4621) basic 281 A. Yes. 

Q. Did you put that in tabular form~ A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Is the tabular form true, correct and properly repre­

sent the results of the breakdown which you made 1 A. 
Yes, it does. 

Q. I .show you Exhibit 313 for identification. Is that the 
tabulation (handing)! A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: I will offer it in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: 1\'Iay I see it~ 
Mr. Gladstein: I have a copy (handing). 
May I proceed with the understanding that if 

counsel wishes he can n1ake an objection after study, 
and he can do so while we go ahead with the exam­
ination. 

Mr. McGohey: I do not know how we can ex­
amine a witness about an exhibit that hasn't been 
put in evidence. 

The Court : No. You must have a reasonable 
time to look at the paper when it is offered. If there 
is any delay of consequence I shall keep note of it. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, this table 
that has been offered as an exhibit purports to con­
tain data with respect to a panel for the .second list­
ing of January 17, 1949 and the panel drawn 
for February 1, 1949, and February 14, 1949. It 
doesn't appear on the table whether or not those 
panels are in evidence. ( 4622) Furthermore, the 
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footnotes to the table contain this item, "Compiled 
from tables IV-C, IV-D and IV-E." It does not 
appear frmn this exhibit whether those tables are 
in evidence or not, and I don't know. I will cer­
tainly object to the introduction of this exhibit con­
taining data with respect to panels drawn on Feb­
ruary 1, 1949, and February 14, 1949, unless those 
panels be in evidence. 

The Court: Are they in evidence 1 

Q. Do you have thern with you 1 A. The panels them­
selves~ 

Q. Yes, the panel list, the two February ones and the 
second January one. You have the second January onet 
A. I have the second January one but I don't have the 
panels here. 

Q. Did you work from copies obtained from the clerk's 
office? A. Yes, I did. 

lVIr. Gladstein: Now I am prepared to take a 
ruling, your Honor, and proceed. 

The Court: Is it conceded that the panels of 
February 1st and February 14, 1949, are not in evi­
dence~ 

Mr. Sacher: Well, February 1st, your Honor, 
is 101 for identification. 

The Court: 101 for identification. 
Mr. Gladstein: And if the second February one 

( 462.3) is not in evidence we will produce it dur­
ing the day and offer it. It is either a photostat or a 
true copy obtained fron1 the clerks. 

The Court: How about those tables, IV-C, IV-D 
and IV-E~ 

Mr. Gladstein: They have been offered. I will 
offer at this time 101 for identification. That is the 
February 1, 1949, panel. 

Mr. Gordon: May we see it? 

(Mr. Gladstein hands.) 

The Court: Any objection? 

LoneDissent.org



2424 

Colloquy of Court and Counsel 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, I remember 
the other day when this came in we had it in our 
hands. I don't recall whether it was offered and 
kept out, but I am unable to tell whether this is a 
copy obtained from the clerk or whether it is a tran­
scription that somebody else made fron1 the clerk's 
records. The clerk's records are usually on legal 
cap paper. This appears to be on letter-size paper. 
There is nothing here to indicate its accuracy or 
correctness or anything about it except it appears 
to be a copy of something that is in the clerk's office. 
Now there is no representation as to who made it as 
to its accuracy. 

The Court: How about that, Mr. Gladstein T 
Mr. McGohey: I should certainly think there 

( 4624) ought to be no difficulty in getting from the 
clerk's office a copy of the panel drawn as recently 
as February 1st of this year. 

Mr. Gladstein: My understanding is that that 
was done. I may also say that during the course of 
this witness's examination I am going to have her 
give testimony regarding a comparison made be­
tween all the copies we have of jury panels and 
photostats or true copies obtained from the clerk, 
and she can testify to a tabulation that shows the 
extent to which there is any deviation. 

The Court: Well, show her that. 
Mr. McGohey: Well, your Honor, we have this 

difficulty: We have been talking at various times 
here about a collection, of various collections of 
panels of jurors. My examination of the record 
shows that at this minute there is a large number of 
panels that have never been offered or at least 
never been received in evidence. Now I just do not 
know bow we get around this business of putting 
in a table which purports to relate and to show the 
composition of jury panels if the jury panels haven't 
b~en offered, and I press the objection to the recep­
tion of this exhibit just offered. Furthermore, we 
have had no explanation up to now about these 
tables, IV-0, IV-D and IV-E, about which I know 
nothing. 

LoneDissent.org



2425 

Dorothy H. Rodman--for Defendants on Challenge­
Reb,uttal-Direct 

rrhe Court: Objection sustained. 
( 4625) :Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
Mr. J\1:cGohey: \Vhat is the number of this 7 
The Clerk: The last one, 313 for identification. 

Q. Did you n1ake any further check along the lines that 
you have just been testifying to 1 A. Yes. 

Q. What was it~ A. I wanted to determine whether 
our sampling technique, the method by which we selected 
the 28 panels was a valid technique, and in order to do 
this I had the grand jury panels, all of them, running from 
1944 through 1948. 

Q. What did you do with them? A. Five years. 
Q. And what did you do with those~ A. And that was 

not a sample, that was a totality of panels. I then selected 
from the total number of grand jury panels a sample in the 
same way that I selected a sample originally for the petit 
jury panels. 

Q. From what material did you work that gave you 
the information about the grand jury panels between Janu­
ary 1944 and December 1948? A. Those were photostatic 
copies of grand juror lists. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 314 for 
identification.) 

Q. Were the results of your analysis put in tabular 
form 1 A. Yes, they were. 

Q. Is Exhibit 314 for identification that table (hand­
ing) ~ ( 4626) _._t\. That is right. 

Q. Is it true and correct and does it correctly represent 
what it purports to state? A. Yes, it does. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it, and we will offer in 
evidence in a batch the photostats of all of the grand 
jury panels referred to in that document (handing to 
Mr. McGohey). 

So as not to consume time I will ask that I be 
permitted to proceed. We have these panels ar­
ranged in chronological order, commencing J anu­
ary 4, 1944, and we have each year's panels, photo-
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stats, of the clerk's copies put in separate folders, 
five folders for the five years. 

The Court: Is there any objection to those photo­
stats of the grand jury panels~ 

Mr. McGohey: 'rhere may not be, your Honor, 
if I may look at them. 

The Court: It is asserted that they are photo­
stats of the clerk's own records. 

lVIr. McGohey: May I ask if they were photo-
stated in the clerk's office~ Is that represented? 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: No objection. 
The Court: They may be marked while you are 

looking at that Exhibit 314 for identification. 
( 4627) 11r. Gladstein: Here is a copy for you, 

if you want (handing to Mr. McGohey). 
Mr. Gordon: Wil you pass this to the Judge, 

please (handing to clerk). 
Mr. Gladstein: May I ask the witness a couple 

of questions while this is going on~ 
The Court: I think it is better to wait until 

Mr. McGohey has examined Exhibit 314 for iden­
tification. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, the notes, 
what appear here on this Challenge Exhibit 314 for 
identification, these five items listed under "Notes" 
contain conclusions. 

The Court : The notes will be excluded. 
Mr. McGohey: All right, your Honor; with the 

exclusion of that I have no objection. 
The Court: The paper will be received and the 

clerk will cross out the notes at the bottom. 
Mr. Gladstein: Does your Honor know what the 

notes are~ 
The Court : I have read them. 
Mr. Gladstein: For example, one of thern says 

the occupations are taken from the official listing 
of the grand jurors. 

The Court: "\Veil, this lady has testified­
Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
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